



Mapping of genes associated with liver regeneration from oval progenitor cells

Müller, Sven

Publication date: 2000

Citation for published version (APA): Müller, S. (2000). Mapping of genes associated with liver regeneration from oval progenitor cells. Roskilde Universitet.

General rights

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

- Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or research.
- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain.
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal.

Take down policy If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact rucforsk@kb.dk providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

Mapping of genes associated with liver regeneration from oval progenitor cells

Sven Müller

Department of Life Sciences and Chemistry Roskilde University Roskilde, Denmark

Thesis submitted as a requirement for the Ph.D. degree. August 2000

Contents

Abstract	4			
Dansk resumé	6			
Papers	8			
Abbreviations	9			
1. Introduction	10			
1.1. Organization of the hepatic parenchyma	10			
1.2. Liver development	12			
1.3. The phenomenon of liver regeneration	13			
1.4. Regeneration from oval progenitor cells	15			
1.5. Activation of oval cells	18			
1.6. A mitogenic effect of growth factors implies priming of target cells	21			
1.7. Growth factors involved in regeneration from oval cells	25			
1.8. The extracellular matrix and the local microenvironment	29			
1.9. Aims of the present study	31			
2. Materials and methods	33			
3. Primary experimental approaches	35			
3.1. Identification of genes associated with regeneration from oval cells by Suppression Subtractive Hybridization	35			
3.1.1. The molecular basis of Suppression Subtractive Hybridization	36			
3.1.2. Clones identified from the 2-AAF/PHx day 7 NPC population by use of the SSH method	38			
3.2. Identification of genes encoding secreted and membrane-bound proteins associated with regeneration from oval cells. Combination of The Signal Peptide Selection (SPS) method and Northern blot analysis	41			
3.2.1. The Signal Peptide Selection method	42			
3.2.2. Construction of a λ RK18/PAI-1 positive control	44			
3.2.3. Examination of a 2-AAF/PHx cDNA library by SPS analysis	44			
3.2.4. Northern blot analysis of cDNAs identified from the SPS library	48			
4. Discussion	56			
5. Concluding remarks	66			
Acknowledgements				
References				
Paper I				

Paper II

w. 1

Abstract

34 - ¹

Regeneration of the adult rat liver in response to severe damage can be accomplished through the activation and differentiation of multipotential nonparenchymal progenitor cells (oval cells). Despite considerable research efforts during the past years, only little is known about the implicated molecules, and thereby the mechanisms, which control the actions of oval cells. In this study, Suppression Subtractive Hybridization (SSH) and Signal Peptide Selection (SPS), was applied on liver cDNA libraries generated from rats exposed to feeding with 2-acetylaminofluorene (2-AAF) and a 70% partial hepatectomy (PHx), in order to map genes that are highly expressed when oval cells are activated and recruited for liver regeneration.

From the SSH library, 29 known and five novel unique cDNA sequences were identified. Additionally four sequences matched expressed sequence tags (ESTs). A subset of the identified genes; interferon- γ receptor α subunit (IFN- γ R α), gp91phox, interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β), lymphocyte function associated molecule-1 α (LFA-1), eukaryotic initiation factor-2-associated 67-kd protein and α -fetoprotein (AFP), constitutes a part of the gene network connected to interferon- γ (IFN- γ). The study was therefore extended to include; IFN- γ , the IFN- γ receptor β subunit (IFN- γ R β), three secondary response genes of IFN- γ , i.e., IL-1 β -converting enzyme (ICE), intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1), and urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor (uPAR), as well as interleukin-18 (IL-18), a cytokine which induces expression of IFN- γ by T lymphocytes. Expression analysis of all the genes was performed by Northern blotting and immunohistochemistry. Increased expression of the entire examined gene network was detected in response to oval cell activation by 2-AAF and the expression increased further when extensive proliferation of oval cells was induced by a subsequent PHx. During simple regeneration after PHx, only

modulation of IL-1 β and ICE was observed. The expression of the IFN- γ receptor complex, uPAR, ICAM-1, IL-18 and ICE could be localized to the ductular structures of oval cells. These results indicate that IFN- γ mediated events may be particularly important when cells in the bile ductules must respond to liver damage by production of oval cells.

SPS combined with Northern blot analysis was introduced in the present study in order to focus on genes encoding secreted and membrane-bound proteins specifically associated with regeneration from oval cells. Twenty two unique cDNAs encoding eighteen known membrane-bound or secreted proteins, and four novel proteins were identified. Northern blot analysis in various experimental models of liver damage and regeneration showed that one transcript encoding leukocyte-common antigen-1 (CD45) and the four novel transcripts were specifically associated with progenitor cell activity of the oval cell phenotype. Additional expression analysis of genes linked to the function of CD45, (i.e. Thy-1, the chemokine receptor CXCR4, and SDF-1, the ligand for CXCR4) further indicated a role for CD45 in oval cell-based liver regeneration.

One of the novel cDNAs from the SPS library, aocp1 (associated with oval cell proliferation 1), appeared especially interesting as its expression was highly restricted to the 2-AAF and 2-AAF/PHx protocols. Northern blot analysis of multiple adult rat tissues revealed that aocp1 was exclusively expressed in the testis, indicating its putative role in both oval cell based liver regeneration and spermatogenesis.

Dansk resumé

.,.¹

Beskadiges leveren i den voksne rotte voldsomt, kan det regenerative respons foregå via aktivering og differentiering af multipotente ikke-parenchymale stamcellelignende celler (kaldt ovale celler). Trods omfattende forskning indenfor de seneste år vides kun lidt om de implicerede molekyler, og dermed hvilke mekanismer, der kontrollerer aktiviteterne af ovale celler. I det foreliggende studie blev Suppressions Subtraktiv Hybridisering (SSH) og Signal Peptid Selektion (SPS) anvendt på cDNA biblioteker, genereret fra rotter eksponeret for fodring med 2-acetylaminofluorene (2-AAF) og en 70 % partiel hepatektomi (PHx), med det formål at kortlægge gener der er højt udtrykt når ovale celler aktiveres og rekrutteres ved leverregeneration.

Fra SSH biblioteket blev der identificeret 29 kendte og 5 hidtil ukendte unikke cDNA sekvenser. Yderligere 4 sekvenser var identiske med "udtrykte sekvensender" (expressed sequence tags (ESTs)). Nogle af de identificerede gener: interferon-γ receptor α subunit (IFN-γR α), gp91phox, interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β), lymphocyte function associated molecule-1 α (LFA-1), eukaryotic initiation factor-2-associated 67-kd protein and α -fetoprotein (AFP), udgør en del af det gen-netværk der er forbundet til interferon- γ (IFN- γ). Derfor blev studiet udvidet til at inkludere: IFN- γ , IFN- γ receptor β subunit (IFN- γ R β), 3 sekundære respons gener til IFN- γ , mere præcist IL-1 β -converting enzyme (ICE), intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) samt urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor (uPAR), og ligeledes interleukin-18 (IL-18), et cytokin der inducerer ekspressionen af IFN- γ fra T lymfocytter. Ekspressionsanalyse af alle disse gener blev foretaget ved Northern blotning og immunohistokemi. For hele det undersøgte gennetværk blev der påvist øget ekspression som respons på oval celle aktivering via 2-AAF og ekspressionen øgedes yderligere når omfattende celledeling af ovale celler blev

induceret ved en efterfølgende PHx. Under simpel regeneration efter en PHx var det kun ekspressionen af IL-1 β og ICE der blev ændret. Ekspressionen af IFN- γ receptor komplekset, uPAR, ICAM-1, IL-18 og ICE kunne lokaliseres til de rørstrukturer der består af ovale celler. Disse resultater indikerer at påvirkninger der er en følge af IFN- γ 's tilstedeværelse kan være af stor vigtighed når celler i galdegangene responderer på lever beskadigelse via produktion af ovale celler.

SPS kombineret med Northern blot analyse blev introduceret i det foreliggende studie med formålet at fokusere på de gener der koder for secernerede og membranbundne proteiner, som specifikt er associeret med regeneration fra ovale celler. 22 unikke cDNA'er, kodende for 18 kendte membranbundne eller secernerede proteiner og 4 nye proteiner, blev identificeret. Northern blot analyse i forskellige eksperimentelle modeller for leverskade og -regeneration viste at et af de kendte transkripts, kodende for leukocyte-common antigen-1 (CD45), samt de 4 nye transkripts, specifikt var associeret med aktivitet af celler med oval celle fænotype. Opfølgende ekspressionsanalyse af gener der er forbundet med funktionen af CD45, (her Thy-1, kemokin receptoren CXCR4, og SDF-1, liganden for CXCR4) indikerede yderligere en rolle for CD45 i leverregeneration baseret på oval celler.

Et af de nye cDNA'er fra SPS biblioteket, aocp1 (associated with oval cell proliferation 1), fremstod som specielt interessant, da ekspressionen var helt begrænset til 2-AAF og 2-AAF/PHx protokollerne. Northern blot analyse af adskillige væv fra voksne rotter viste, at aocp1 udelukkende blev udtrykt i testis, hvilket kunne indikere at aocp1 spiller en rolle både i leverregeneration baseret på ovale celler og ved spermatogenese.

Papers

This thesis is based on the following articles, referred to as Paper I and Paper II in the text, and additional data presented herein.

- Bisgaard HC, Müller S, Nagy P, Rasmussen LJ and Thorgeirsson SS. 1999.
 Modulation of the gene network connected to interferon-γ in liver regeneration from oval cells. Am. J. Pathol. 155, 1075-1085.
- Müller S, Tygstrup N, Rasmussen LJ and Bisgaard HC.
 Selective cloning of genes encoding secreted and membrane-bound proteins with putative roles in liver regeneration from oval cells.
 Has been submitted to Am. J. Pathol. July, 2000.

Abbreviations

2-AAF	2-acetylaminofluorene	LIFR	Leukemia inhibitory factor receptor	
AA	Allyl aicohol	LPS	Lipopolysaccharide	
AFP	α fetoprotein	NF-κB	Nuclear factor kB	
aocp	Associated with Oval Cell Proliferation	NPC	Nonparenchymal cells	
APAP	Acetaminophen	PAI-1	Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1	
BDL	Bile duct ligation	Pfu	plaque forming units	
BMTx	Bone marrow transplantation	PHx	Partial hepatectomy (70%)	
cDNA	Complementary DNA	PCR	Polymerase chain reaction	
cdk	Cyclin dependent kinase	SCF	Stem cell factor	
CHO	Chinese hamster ovary	SDF-1	Stromal cell derived factor-1	
СК	Cytokeratin	SSH	Suppression Subtractive	
DPPIV	Dipeptidyl peptidase IV		Hypridization	
ECM	Extracellular matrix	SPS	Signal Peptide Selection	
EGF	Epidermal growth factor	STAT1, -3	Signal transducer and activator of	
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor	,	transcription protein 1 or 3	
EST	Expressed sequence tag	TGF-α	Transforming growth factor-o	
FLHSC	Fetal liver hematopoietic stem cell		rensionning growth labor-o	
GalN	D-galactoseamine	TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor- α	
GGT	γ-glutamyl transpeptidase	TNFR-1	Tumor necrosis factor receptor-1	
HGF	Hepatocyte growth factor	μ₽Α	Linkingse-type plasminogon	
HNF	Hepatocyte nuclear factor		activator	
ICAM-1	Intercellular adhesion molecule-1		Urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor	
ICE	IL-1β-converting enzyme			
IL(-6,-18)	Interleukin-6, -18	UTP	Uridine nucleotides	
IFN-γ	Interferon-y	•		
LFA-1	Lymphocyte function-associated molecule-1 α	WLTx	Whole liver transplantation	

LIF Leukemia inhibitory factor

` مو

1. Introduction

1.1. Organization of the hepatic parenchyma

In adults, the liver performs myriad functions. It is the main producer of blood plasma proteins and a major site for metabolism. These activities include synthesis and secretion of acute phase proteins, binding proteins for steroid hormones, lipoproteins and clotting factors like fibrinogen, digestive functions via bile production and secretion, organic metabolism including conversion and production of glucose, cholesterol metabolism and metabolic alterations of foreign organic molecules by the microsomal enzyme system, e.g. hydroxylation reactions.

The main cell type of the adult liver is the hepatocyte which carries out most of its functions, but the organ further include: Cholangiocytes lining the Canals of Hering; fenestrated endothelial cells which are unique among endothelial cells due to their large cytoplasmic gabs that allow maximal contact between blood and hepatocytes; Kupffer cells, which correspond to macrophages localized in hepatic sinusoids; and Ito cells located under the sinusoids, the fat storing cells which are unique to the liver and synthesize connective tissue proteins and secrete several growth factors (Gressner, 1995).

In the adult, rat hepatocytes are stacked into plates of cells which are one-cell wide and up to 20 cells long, and which bifurcate and merge freely (McCuskey, 1993). Epithelial cells of bile ducts, ductules and hepatocytes form a continuous cellular array; ductules are joined at the portal ends of plates to bile canaliculi which occupy the intercellular space between adjacent hepatocytes and the canalicular network drains the bile produced by the hepatocytes to the portal tract interface (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Part of a microsegment of a liver parenchyma. CV, central vein; K, Kupffer cell; FSC, fat storing cell (Ito cell); BC, bile canaliculus; En, endothelial cell; S, sinusoid with fenestrations; DS, space of Disse (separates the hepatocytes from the sinusoidal wall); Hab, hepatic artery branch; PVb, portal vein branch; CDJ, caniculo-ductular junction (Canals of Hering); BDI, bile ductule; LmP, limiting plate; LP, liver plate. From Muto and Yamamoto (1978).

The continuous mass of hepatocytic plates is organized in lobular structures called hepatic lobules, which in a 2-dimensional view is organized like a wheel, which is interpenetrated by two distinct vascular beds; a central vein and six sets of portal triads. The portal triads (also known as portal tracts or portal spaces) are composed of microscopic branches of three vessels: A portal vein, a hepatic artery and a bile ductule. The portal vein brings blood to the liver from the intestine, the stomach, the pancreas, the gallbladder and the spleen and this blood is mixed with the highly oxygenated arterial blood in the sinusoids and the mixed blood flows towards the central vein. The bile ductule carries the bile produced by hepatocytes away to the larger bile ducts.

Despite extensive studies for more than a century, the liver anatomy is still not fully understood. The overall organization of the organ is well described, but at the level of microanatomical interfaces, the relationships between the vascular tree, the biliary system and the hepatic parenchyma still appears inadequately explained. Thus, the definition of an independent functional unit is presently debated. The status on this subject is reviewed by Saxena *et al.* (1999).

1.2. Liver development

During gastrulation the endoderm forms the primordium of the digestive tract. In addition to the pharynx, the esophagus, the stomach and the intestines, it also gives rise to many associated glands, including the salivary glands, the pancreas and the liver. The endoderm forms the epithelial components of these structures while the supporting muscular and fibrous elements arise from the mesoderm. In the developing liver the ventral foregut endoderm gives rise to primitive hepatoblasts, whereas sinusoidal-lining cells and connective tissue components originate in the mesenchymal tissue invaded by the liver cords (Shiojiri et al, 1991). By use of in situ hybridization and immunohistochemical techniques, Shiojiri et al (1991) conducted comprehensive studies to examine cell lineages during rat liver development. Differentiation was monitored by use of the markers α -fetoprotein (AFP) and albumin (hepatocyte specific), gamma glutamyl transferase (GGT) (bile duct specific) and cytokeratins (CK's) (adult hepatocytes contain only CK8 and CK18, while duct cells in addition contain CK7 and CK19 (Moll et al, 1982; Van Eyken et al, 1987)). It was shown that the endodermal epithelial cells constituting the adult liver (hepatocytes and bile ducts), all originate from AFP producing, bipotential hepatoblasts. The hepatoblasts which surround the portal mesenchyme form a double-

layered cylinder which remodels and migrate into the mesenchyme to form the intrahepatic bile ducts (Van Eyken *et al*, 1988; Shiojiri *et al*, 1991). The hepatoblasts express AFP, later also albumin and GGT, as they migrate into the portal stroma. Initially, intermediate expression is restricted to CK8 and -18, but during later stages of ductular morphogenesis, the ductal cells begin to express CK7 and -19 as well (Moll *et al*, 1982). In contrast, hepatoblasts which are not in contact with the portal mesenchyme differentiate into hepatocytes which form the liver cell plates and CK expression is restricted to CK8 and -18.

1.3. The phenomenon of liver regeneration

The liver of an adult individual is normally a mitotically quiescent organ. The mass of the liver is, however, precisely regulated and in case of cellular loss, it demonstrates a remarkable regenerative capacity. This characteristic has been known by mankind all the way back to the ancient Greeks as it emerges from the myth of Prometheus. Prometheus stole the secret of fire from the gods of the Olympus and brought it to the human beings. As a punishment the gods condemned him to have a portion of his liver eaten by an eagle daily. The liver regenerated overnight and the torture could continue for ever. A consistent model for studying the phenomenon of liver regeneration was introduced by Higgins and Anderson (1931). In this model, two-thirds of a rat liver is removed by surgery (partial hepatectomy, PHx), which, in the terminology used by Higgins and Anderson, corresponds to the median and left lateral lobe. The residual lobes are left behind intact and enlarge to make up for the reduced liver mass, a process which is completed within 1-2 weeks. The process of regeneration in the PHx model differ from that seen in other regenerating tissues, e.g. bone marrow or skin, as it

apparently does not involve progenitor or stem cells. Resection triggers the hepatocytes in the remnant lobes to exit the G_0 phase and they enter DNA synthesis about 12 hours after PHx, while the other cells of the liver enter into DNA synthesis about 24 hours later (Michalopoulos and DeFrances, 1997).

However, in real life liver mass reduction is caused by toxic injuries from agents like viruses and chemicals rather than by surgery, and some of these injuring agents do not only cause mass reduction, but also impair or block the proliferative capacity of hepatocytes. As described more thoroughly below, the organ may then turn to an alternative strategy of regeneration by proliferation, migration and differentiation of progenitor cells forming atypical structures initially continuous with the biliary tree (Alison, 1998). In rodents, these progenitor cells are called oval cells due to morphological appearance of the nucleus (Faber, 1955). They share the characteristics of fetal hepatoblasts and possess a multi-potent progenitor cell potential which, *in vivo*, include differentiation along hepatocyte and bile duct lineages, but also intestinal type epithelium (Alison *et al*, 1998; Lemire *et al*, 1991; Evarts *et al*, 1996; Tatematsu *et al*, 1985).

Elucidation of the mechanisms which control the actions of oval cells has become an important issue as similar atypical ductular reactions have been identified in many forms of human chronic liver diseases (Lowes *et al*, 1999) and due to the ability of oval cells to replace hepatocytes (Evarts *et al* 1996). Identification of the key molecules which control oval cell actions could influence on future treatment strategies in the clinic, as liver progenitor cells as therapeutic targets would make it possible to e.g.: initiate the process of oval cell differentiation which fail in chronic liver diseases; activate oval cells and their developmental potential as an alternative to transplantation or stop the

proliferation of ductular cells in situations of uncontrolled growth, e.g. in response to acetaminophen (APAP) induced injury (Lowes *et al*, 1999).

1.4. Regeneration from oval progenitor cells

The subject of regeneration from liver stem cells has been controversial for decades, partly because no one so far has been able to demonstrate neither the localization nor the exact nature of such cells. It is, however, well established, that injuries which impair the proliferative capacity of hepatocytes may result in proliferation of epithelial (oval) cells, in which fetal liver-specific gene expression is recapitulated. The oval cells themselves are considered to represent the progeny of liver stem cells, as they are associated with impaired regeneration, and because they express markers identified as characteristic of stem cells, e.g. stem cell factor (SCF), its receptor c-*kit* and cytokeratin 14 (Fujio *et al*, 1994; Bisgaard *et al*, 1994). Markers for oval cells are shown in Table 1.

Rats have been used most extensively to generate experimental protocols which initiate oval cell proliferation (reviewed by Alison *et al*, 1998). These include feeding with a choline-devoid ethionine diet (Tee *et al*, 1994); 2-acetylaminofluorene (2-AAF) administration (Bisgaard *et al*, 1996); D-galactosamine (GalN) exposure (Lemire *et al*, 1991); feeding with a 3'-methyl diaminobenzidine containing diet (Carthew *et al*, 1989); long term exposure to ethanol (Smith *et al*, 1996); toxic accumulation of copper due to defect in Wilson disease gene (Long-Evans Cinnamon rat) (Betto *et al*, 1996); and 2-AAF in a choline devoid diet or combined with PHx, carbon tetrachloride (CCl₄) or allyl alcohol (AA), (Sell, 1983; Evarts *et al*, 1987; Petersen *et al*, 1998 b). Central to all these models is the extensive destruction and/or compromised function of hepatocytes, coupled with the apparent inability of the residual hepatocytes to proliferate. However, only the models of D-

Marker(s)	Marker(s) Notes	
AFP, albumin	AFP synthesis ceases upon hepatocytic differentiation	Goldin <i>et al.</i> (1995), Alison <i>et al.</i> (1997)
CK's 7, 8, 18 and 19	Highly expressed biliary cytokeratins. Hepatocytes express CK8 and -18.	Alison et al. (1996)
СК14	Only expressed by a minority of oval cells	Fujio <i>et al.</i> (1994)
Vimentin	Mesenchymal intermediate filament expressed by migrating oval cells	Alison et al. (1997)
OV6, OC2, OC3	Cytoskeletai proteins in oval cells. OV6 labels most oval cells, OC2 and OC3 label sub-populations	Hixon <i>et al</i> . (1997)
BD1	This is a negative marker as it recognizes mature biliary epithelia but does not immunostain oval cells	Yang <i>et al</i> . (1993)
GGT	Both bile duct epithelial and oval cells stains for this marker	Yang et al. (1993)
Thy-1	Cell membrane-bound glycoprotein also expressed by haemopoletic cells	Petersen <i>et al.</i> (1998 a)
SCF/c-kit	SCF and its receptor is implicated in survival, proliferation and differentiation of stem cells in hematopoiesis, gametogenesis and melanogenesis.	Fujio <i>et al.</i> (1996)
CD34	A glycophosphoprotein which selectively identifies essentially all lineages of hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells	Omori <i>et al.</i> (1997)

Table 1. Markers for oval cells. Antigens expressed by oval cells which can be detected immunocytochemically. The antigens are not expressed by oval cells only, but many are very highly expressed and can be used to highlight the presence of oval cells in histological sections and can be utilized in cell sorting. Modified from Alison (1998).

Galactosamine (GalN) administration or administration of the carcinogen 2-AAF in combination with PHx, have been documented to result in extensive oval cell proliferation, migration and finally differentiation into hepatocytes (Lemire *et al*, 1991; Dabeva and Shafritz, 1993; Evarts *et al*, 1987; Evarts *et al*, 1996).

Irrespective to the localization of facultative stem cells, the oval cells in the GalN and 2-AAF/PHx models originate in portal zones in the regions of terminal bile ductules and then emerge from the portal regions, invade the entire lobular parenchyma and differentiate (Grisham and Thorgeirsson, 1996). By light microscopy studies Sarraf *et al* (1994) showed that oval cells in the 2-AAF/PHx protocol initially expand from, and are continuos with, the biliary tree. By detection of AFP and CK19 expression it has subsequently been shown, that it is the smaller interlobular ducts that are heavily implicated, rather than the larger ducts (Alison *et al*,1998). The area from which the oval

cells appear to expand, and possible differentiation lineages, identified by *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies, is shown in Figure 2.



Figure 2. Schematic representation of the localization from which the oval cells expands. The scheme shows the developmental options that the oval cells possess, including differentiation into hepatocytes and biliary epithelium. BD: Bile ductule; CH: Canal of Hering, Redrawn and modified from Grisham and Thorgeirsson (1996).

Recent studies in rats, mice and humans have shown that extrahepatic derived cells of bone marrow origin also can contribute as a source of hepatocytes and bile duct cells in liver regeneration and renewal (Petersen *et al*, 1999; Theise *et al*, 2000 a; Theise *et al*, 2000 b). In the study by Petersen *et al* (1999), three approaches were used in conjunction with the 2-AAF/CCl₄ protocol: i) bone marrow transplantation (BMTx) from male rats into lethally irradiated females and detection of donor cells in the recipients by means of DNA probes to the Y chromosome; ii) BMTx from dipeptidyl peptidase IV-positive (DPPIV⁺) male rats into DPPIV⁻ females and detection of DPPIV –expressing cells in the recipient animals and; iii) whole liver transplantation (WLTx) with L21-6 antigen expressing recipients of livers from rats that did not express the L21-6 antigen. In summary, all approaches confirmed that a subpopulation of the oval cells and/or hepatocytes and ductular structures derived from the donor bone marrow cell population

and in case of approach iii), a widespread staining for L21-6 was detected as a result of the influx of oval cells that originated from an extrahepatic source of the recipient rats. The contribution of donor derived hepatocytes in approach i) and ii) was quantified at a time when the oval cells had started to differentiate into hepatocytes and was estimated to about 0.14% and 0.16% of the total hepatocytes, respectively. The proportion of Thy-1+ oval cells expressing the Y marker in approach i) was calculated to about 0.1%.

An approach based on lethal irradiation of female mice which received whole bone marrow transplants from male donors was used in the study by Theise *et al* (2000 a) but a protocol directed towards liver specific injury was not included in these experiments. Y-chromosome positive hepatocytes constituted about 1 to 2 % of total hepatocytes in animals sacrificed 2 month or longer posttransplantation, indicating that stem cells of bone marrow origin may take part in normal tissue renewal in the liver. Liver specimens from human recipients of therapeutic bone marrow liver transplants have also been analyzed for marrow-derived hepatocytes and biliary epithelium cells (cholangiocytes) (Theise *et al*, 2000 b). The pathological cases included chronic myelogenous leukemia, primary sclerosing cholangitis, alpha-1 antitrypsin deficiency and hepatitis C. Engraftment of Ychromosome positive hepatocytes and cholangiocytes was detected in all specimens, with adjusted values ranging from 4 to 43 % and 4 to 38 %, respectively, showing that in humans too, hepatocytes and biliary epithelium cells can be derived from extrahepatic stem cells, probably of bone marrow origin.

1.5. Activation of oval cells

As described above, several experimental protocols, which provoke a regenerative response involving oval cells, exists. The mechanisms which activate the oval

cells and the reason why only the 2-AAF/PHx (or 2-AAF + an alternative injury) and GalN protocols results in a complete regenerative process, is, however, poorly understood. The nature of injuries in the noncarcinogenic GalN protocol and the carcinogenic 2-AAF/PHx protocol are quite different. When introduced into rats at concentrations higher than 200 mg/kg, GalN causes a series of metabolic reactions to occur in the hepatocytes, most notably a complete consumption of all uridine nucleotides (UTPs). The UTP trapping results in blocked RNA synthesis, followed by inhibition of protein synthesis, changes in plasma membranes and finally hepatocyte death (Decker and Keppler, 1972; Decker and Keppler, 1974; Bachmann *et al*, 1977). The nonparenchymal cells are not targets for UTP trapping and oval cells start to replicate at day 1 (Lemire *et al*, 1991). Hepatocytes recover in the GalN protocol at day 3 and thereby contribute to the restoration of normal liver structure which is completed within only 7 –10 days (Lemire *et al*, 1991).

The tissue destruction and oval cell activation is obtained in the GalN protocol by use of one or two (6 hours apart) intraperitonal doses (Dabeva and Shafritz, 1993; Lemire *et al*, 1991), while 2-AAF in all variations of the 2-AAF/PHx protocol is administrated daily for at least 9 days and PHx is typically performed at the midway point (reviewed by Alison *et al*, 1998). Hepatocytes do not contribute to the tissue restoration in these protocols and whether oval cells differentiate into hepatocytes or undergo intestinal metaplasia appears to depend on the amount of 2-AAF administrated. DNA synthesis in oval cells and Ito cells is seen already at four hours after PHx (Thorgeirsson *et al*, 1993), but proliferation of oval cells is not extensive for the first several days after PHx and the period prior to differentiation into hepatocytes is prolonged when compaired to the GalN protocol. Significant differentiation in the 2-AAF/PHx protocol is typically seen between the 11th and 14th day after PHx. 2-AAF is metabolized into the cytotoxic/mitoinhibitory *N*-

hydroxy derivative by phase I metabolic enzymes in hepatocytes (Kroese *et al*, 1990). Biliary cells and oval cells express very low amounts of phase I and high levels of phase II enzymes compared with hepatocytes, which favors detoxification over hepatocarcinogen activation in these cell types (Mathis *et al*, 1989; Sirica *et al*, 1990). By use of [³H] thymidine labeling of DNA synthesis, it has been shown *in vivo* that 2-AAF alone elicits a mitogenic response in ductal and nondescript periductal cells, whereas DNA synthesis in hepatocytes is blocked (Bisgaard *et al*, 1996). The carcinogen exposure also induced expression of AFP, albumin and transcription factors which regulate their expression (Hepatocyte Nuclear Factor (HNF) 1 β and HNF3 γ), reflecting the presence of oval cells within the population of induced ductular cells.

Progression through cell cycle checkpoints are mainly regulated by the levels and activities of different cyclin/cyclin dependent kinase (cdk) complexes. *p53* (the size of the protein is 53 kDa) is one of the molecules which can mediate G₁ cell cycle arrest by activation of cdk inhibitor *p21* synthesis (EI-Deiry *et al*, 1994). Cyclin/cdk complexes are also known to be involved in *p53*-mediated G₁ arrest induced by TGF- β (Ewen *et al*, 1995), which is a potent inhibitor of hepatocyte proliferation. It has recently been found that *p53* expression increases in response to 2-AAF treatment (Ohlson *et al*, 1998). Cyclin E/cdk2 complex formation has been identified as critical for G1/S phase progression as it enables transition to the S phase by acting as histone H1 kinase (Dulic *et al*, 1992). It was further shown by Ohlson *et al* (1998) that the cell cycle related increase in cdk2 is not seen in 2-AAF treated rats. Finally, immunofluorescence studies have shown that cyclin E positive signals are restricted to oval cells, while hepatocytes remain negative (Trautwein *et al*, 1999). These studies by Ohlson *et al* (1998) and Trautwein *et al* (1999) thereby point at two molecular explanations for the 2-AAF mediated inhibition of hepatocyte proliferation;

Induction of p53 expression resulting in elevated p21 expression and lack of cyclin E and cdk2 expression. Both mechanisms arrest hepatocytes in the G₁ phase.

The combination of 2-AAF treatment with PHx results in a dramatic increase in the expression of several growth factors when compared with 2-AAF treatment alone (Thorgeirsson *et al*, 1993). The presence of these growth factors appears to be essential for oval cell survival. 2-AAF treatment alone does not result in a net increase of oval cells, as the number of apoptotic NPCs in the periportal areas also increases, thereby retaining the normal liver morphology (Bisgaard *et al*, 1996). A direct mitogenic effect of the 2-AAF metabolites on the hepatic ductal cell compartment can not be excluded, but the stimulation could also be mediated through the mitoinhibitory effect on the hepatocytes. The latter alternative might reflect a common mechanism in the 2-AAF/PHx and GalN protocols. Despite their different mode of actions, both of these protocols cause situations of hepatocyte specific mitoinhibition combined with a liver mass reduction which provides a growth stimulus.

1.6. A mitogenic effect of growth factors implies priming of target cells

.,.`

Whether regeneration is accomplished in response to PHx treatment or chemical injury, numerous growth factors are involved. Among these, the epidermal growth factor (EGF), the hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) and the transforming growth factor- α have been demonstrated to act as complete mitogens for hepatocytes in culture and are considered to play very important roles in rat liver regeneration (Michalopoulos, 1990). Direct infusion of these growth factors into the liver of normal rats does not, however, cause a major wave of DNA synthesis (Webber *et al*, 1994; Nagy *et al*, 1996). A significant DNA synthesis response is obtained though, if growth factor infusion is

preceded by: A 30 % PHx (which does not by itself induce a wave of DNA synthesis) (Webber et al, 1994); collagenase treatment (a mixture of bacterially produced matrix metalloproteinases which perfuse the liver) (Liu et al, 1994); or administration of 2-AAF (Nagy et al, 1996), demonstrating that a priming stimulus must be provided in order to effectuate the mitogenic potential of growth factors. Within minutes after PHx, the transcription factor Nuclear factor KB (NF-KB) is transiently activated by dimerization of the preexisting p50/NF-kB1 and p65/RelA subunits (FitzGerald et al, 1995; Cressman et al, 1994). This activation is mediated by signaling through tumor necrosis factor receptor type 1 (TNFR-1), as demonstrated by PHx in TNFR-1 deficient mice, in which DNA synthesis is severely impaired and the expected increase in NF-kB binding fail to occur (Yamada et al, 1997). The NF-kB downstream signaling pathway involves transactivation of the cytokine interleukin-6 (IL-6) which leads to increased binding of, most importantly, the transcription factor signal transducer and activator of transcription protein 3 (STAT3). Injection of IL-6 in TNFR-1 deficient animals before PHx restores STAT3 binding to normal levels and corrects the DNA synthesis defect (and thereby the deficiency in regeneration), but it does not effect the NF-kB binding (Yamada et al, 1997). Similarly it has been shown, that disruption of the IL-6 gene in mice results in absence of STAT3 and impaired liver regeneration in the PHx model, a situation which could be reversed by a single dose of IL-6 (Cressman et al, 1996). In outline, the described activation events result in sensitivity of the hepatocytes to the effect of the growth factors, which enable the activation cascade of immediately early and subsequently delayed early genes characterizing the G₁ phase to continue (Haber et al, 1993; Taub, 1996). The above indications of the cytokine tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), as the initial factor acting as a primer to sensitize hepatocytes to the proliferation effect of growth factors have recently been further supported by Webber

et al (1998). Infusion of HGF and TGF- α into the portal vein of normal rats in concert with TNF- α , transiently activated NF- κ B and STAT3 and increased the proliferative response of hepatocytes to HGF and TGF- α by fourfold. Though the sequence of events for initiation of regeneration in the PHx protocol; TNF- $\alpha \rightarrow$ TNFR-1 \rightarrow NF- κ B \rightarrow IL-6 \rightarrow STAT3 \rightarrow remaining immediately early genes \rightarrow delayed early genes \rightarrow DNA synthesis, seems likely, it is not known whether TNF- α is the sole initiating factor in the PHx model of regeneration. The observation that regeneration is severely impaired in TNFR-1 deficient mice may indicate that TNF- α is one among multiple factors required, though these are not sufficient by themselves to elicit a full regenerative response. The initial response to PHx by the release of preexisting cytokines like TNF- α and IL-6 from Kupffer cells (Michalopoulos and DeFrances, 1997) and the activation of transcription factors by posttranslational modifications, explain the speed by which the liver responds to this type of injury. Stimulation of cytokine production can be induced by various means, e.g. by endotoxin, free radicals or viruses (Simpson *et al*, 1997). The mechanism which actually starts the process in response to PHx (or other liver injuries) is, however, not known.

The regenerative response to PHx does not significantly involve oval cells. Transiently, the transcription of SCF, c-*kit* and AFP exceeds detectable levels, but there is no evidence indicating that the oval cells contribute significantly to the regeneration of the liver mass (Thorgeirsson *et al*, 1994; Grisham and Thorgeirsson, 1996). It has been hypothesized that PHx treatment involves activation of both hepatocytes and the facultative liver stem cells (Thorgeirsson, 1996). In case of hepatocyte-specific mitoinhibition, the activation of the stem cells and their progeny (oval cells) are sustained, and a similarly sustained expression of growth factors, including those known to be involved in response to PHx treatment, results in the generation of the differentiated cell

. · ·

lineages needed for regeneration. This scenario may partly explain the progress in the 2-AAF/PHx protocol, but it certainly does not account for the mechanism which activates oval cells in the GaIN protocol. On the contrary, the much faster response of oval cells seen in the GaIN protocol indicates, that a mechanism which actively primes the oval cells for the proliferative effect of growth factors, exists.

TNF and IL-6 are also involved in regeneration from oval cells, but the data illustrating the importance of the cytokines in this context are conflicting. Dexamethasone is a well-known inhibitor of TNF and IL-6. In a study by Nagy et al (1998), the effect of dexamethasone on rats exposed to PHx, 2-AAF/PHx and bile duct ligation (BDL) was examined. Pretreatment with dexamethasone suppressed expression of both TNF and IL-6 after PHx and significantly reduced the proliferative response of hepatocytes, but the failed response could be rescued by IL-6 administration. Long term dexamethasone treatment prior to induction of oval cells by the 2-AAF/PHx protocol turned out to be lethal. If animals in the 2-AAF/PHx protocol were administrated dexamethasone 24 hours before they were killed, bromouracil (BrdU) positive oval cells decreased approximately 10 fold compaired to 2-AAF/PHx controls. Dexamethasone treatment prior to BDL did not influence on the regenerative response and it was concluded that dexamethasone effectively inhibits the proliferative response of hepatocytes and oval cells, but not bile duct cells. However, a possible synergistic effect of 2-AAF and dexamethasone was not examined, e.g. by a 2-AAF/dexamethasone/BDL experiment or rescue of 2-AAF/dexamethasone/PHx treated animals by IL-6 administration. In a recent study by Rosenberg et al (2000), the regeneration from periportal liver injury induced by phenobarbital feeding and cocaine injection (induce proliferation of hepatocytes in middle and central zones and proliferation of intraportal oval cells) was examined in normal and

IL-6 knockout mice. It was demonstrated that IL-6 knockout mice compensated for a reduced hepatocyte proliferation by increased oval cell proliferation, resulting in timely repair of the liver injury. These results show that IL-6 differently influences on the proliferative capacity of hepatocytes and oval cells.

Our present knowledge regarding mechanisms for priming of oval cells is clearly insufficient. The fact that oval cells do not contribute to regeneration from PHx treatment could reflect that additional priming mechanisms/factors are necessary in order to activate oval cells. Recruitment of such factors could be controlled by hepatocytes, and if so, only in situations of compromised proliferative capacity of hepatocytes. The liver could thereby ensure that the slower process of regeneration from cell types incapable of immediately conducting liver cell functions are only activated in emergency situations.

1.7. Growth factors involved in regeneration from oval cells.

Due to the tremendous regenerative capacity and the existence of a simple and well functioning experimental approach (PHx), the regenerating liver has been widely used to identify and study the role of growth modulators in regeneration. Several important factors involved in regeneration from PHx treatment have been characterized (Michalopoulos and DeFrances, 1997), but the high degree of redundancy and pleiotrophic effects of many of these factors have complicated the elucidation of their functions and how the complex interplay between them is organized and controlled. Expression-analysis of cytokines, growth factors and their respective receptors in the context of regeneration from oval cells in the 2-AAF/PHx model, has been performed for acidic fibroblast growth factor (aFGF), leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF), TGF- α , EGF, and SCF as well as HGF and the urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA), urokinase-type plasminogen activator

receptor (uPAR), plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) system which is involved in the release, conversion and regulation of pro-HGF to its active form (Marsden *et al*, 1992; Hu *et al*, 1995; Evarts *et al*, 1993; Omori *et al*, 1996; Evarts *et al*, 1992; Nagy *et al*, 1996; Fujio *et al*, 1994; Hu *et al*, 1993; Bisgaard *et al*, 1998).

The proliferative activity in the 2-AAF/PHx protocol is concentrated on oval cells (and Ito cells) and this is in accordance with the general picture which emerges from the study of growth modulators and their receptors. Whereas the activity of growth modulators in response to PHx treatment (at least in the initial phase) mostly expands from hepatocytes (and Ito cells), and are directed towards hepatocytes, this activity pattern changes in the 2-AAF/PHx protocol, in which growth modulators mostly are expressed by oval cells and Ito cells and are directed towards oval cells. Studies of SCF, LIF and HGF have identified especially interesting individual characteristics as described in the following.

SCF was originally identified as an important hematopoietic cytokine (Zsebo *et al*, 1990). SCF and its receptor c-*kit* are expressed in fetal liver, which is a site of hematopoiesis during fetal life, but the transcripts are not detected in adult liver (Fujio *et al*, 1994). They differ from the remaining factors mentioned above, as their expression does not increase significantly in response to PHx treatment. Expression of SCF and its receptor c-*kit* is, however, dramatically induced in response to the 2-AAF/PHx protocol (Fujio *et al*, 1994). Expression of mRNA for both ligand and receptor increased from 12 hours after the partial hepatectomy with a peak of SCF at day 4, and with a more gradual increase of c-*kit* transcripts, which stayed elevated until a large portion of the oval cells started to differentiate. The SCF transcripts were expressed by oval cells and Ito cells but transcripts for the c-*kit* receptor were restricted to oval cells. The induction of SCF and c-*kit*

shortly after the liver mass reduction by PHx in the 2-AAF/PHx protocol may reflect a role of this cytokine system in the early development of oval cells. This has been further indicated in a recent study by Matsusaka *et al* (1999). The role of c-*kit* in the 2-AAF/PHx protocol was examined by use of Ws/Ws rats, whose c-*kit* tyrosine kinase activity was severely impaired owing to a deletion in the kinase domain. Compared to normal rats, the development of oval cells was significantly suppressed at day 7, 9 and 13 after PHx. However, the expression of oval cell markers and the proliferative activity was detected at equal levels in Ws/Ws and normal rats, indicating that the receptor mediated signal transduction only plays a minor role in determining the phenotype and in the proliferative activity of oval cells.

LIF is a polyfunctional cytokine with several biological characteristics similar to TNF, IL-1 and IL-6 (Gearing, 1993; Hilton and Gough, 1991; Kurzrock *et al*, 1991). Receptors for LIF (LIFR) exist in low- and high-affinity forms and conversion to the latter form is conferred by the signal tranducing subunit gp130, which LIF shares with IL-6 type cytokines, reflecting a functional redundancy (Kishimoto *et al*, 1995). For the LIF/LIFR/gp130 system, a phenotypic difference between hepatocytes and oval cells in their signaling through gp130 has been indicated. A well described response of hepatocytes exposed to LIF is the expression of acute phase proteins. By separation of parenchymal and nonparenchymal cells combined with *in situ* hybridrization analysis, Omori *et al* (1996) showed that α 1-acidglycoprotein (α 1-AGP) (representing acute phase proteins) expression was restricted to hepatocytes in the 2-AAF/PHx protocol. The LIF, LIFR and gp130 transcripts were mainly found in nonparenchymal cells, including oval cells. These observations indicate that the function of the LIF/LIFR/gp130 system differ significantly between hepatocytes and oval cells.

.

HGF was originally identified in the serum of rats exposed to PHx treatment as a potent mitogen for normal hepatocytes in culture (Michalopoulos et al, 1984; Nakamura et al, 1984), but has also been recognized as a motogen as well as a morphogen factor (see Naldini et al (1995) for references). The receptor for HGF is c-met (Naldini et al, 1991), which, like several other growth factor receptors, e.g. EGFR and the receptors for aFGF, transduce its signal through a tyrosine kinase activity. In the liver, HGF is not produced by hepatocytes, but by nonparenchymal sinusoid-lining cells, principally Ito cells. The HGF transcript is expressed in low levels in normal liver (Hu et al, 1993), but the level increases dramatically in response to PHx treatment, starting from 3-6 hours after PHx, and peaks at 12 hours after PHx (Zarnegar et al, 1991). The increase of HGF in plasma of rats exposed to liver injuries (PHx and CCl₄ administration) is even faster, with a peak of 17 fold increase just 2 hours after PHx (Lindroos et al, 1991). In the 2-AAF/PHx protocol, an increase in the HGF transcript level is seen 1 day after PHx, with a peak at day 6 and a decrease after day 13 (Hu et al, 1993). c-met expression also increased gradually with a peak around day 9 to 13. In situ hybridization further showed that the HGF transcripts were localized in Ito cells, whereas the transcript for c-met were strongly expressed by oval cells, indicating that the HGF/c-met system functions by a paracrine mechanism. Hu et al (1993) did not observe an increase in HGF and c-met transcripts in response to 2-AAF treatment alone. HGF is secreted as an inactive single-chain precursor (pro-HGF), which binds to the cell surface or the ECM, presumably via its affinity for heparin-like glycoaminoglycans, and it also binds to the c-met receptor, but without triggering its kinase activity (Naldini et al, 1995). Conversion of pro-HGF to an active heterodimeric molecule requires proteolytic activity, a process which takes place in the extracellular environment. Plasminogen activators (PAs) and inhibitors (PAIs) are thought to be key participants in

. . ·

the balance of proteolytic and antiproteolytic activities that regulate matrix turnover (Vassalli *et al*,1991). In the liver exposed to PHx treatment, *de novo* appearance of active uPA and uPAR in homogenates has been documented as early as 1 minute after surgery (Mars *et al*, 1995). Western blot analysis and zymography further showed that the resulting enhanced activity of uPA was mainly due to a dramatic increase in uPAR expression. uPA appeared to be the primary agent that activated pro-HGF, as cleavage could be prevented by antibody against uPA. In studies using tissue cultures it has been shown that activation of pro-HGF involves the formation of a stable complex between pro-HGF and uPA bound to the *c-met* receptor (Naldini *et al*, 1995). By use of immunohistochemistry, Northern blot analysis and zymography Bisgaard *et al* (1998) established, that the plasminogen activation was located over the expanding oval cell population, but not over the mitoinhibited mature hepatocytes, thereby providing an effective mechanism by which HGF activation can be specifically targeted to the oval cell surface. A summary of oval cell growth modulating molecules are shown in Figure 3.

1.8. The extracellular matrix and the local microenvironment

The bile duct structures in the portal tracts are surrounded by matrix components which form a classic basement membrane, containing type IV collagen and laminin, and which are associated with the cholangiocytes and the adjacent hepatocytes too. The ECM gradually changes across the liver acinus and the basal lamina is replaced with components such as fibrillar collagens and fibronectin (Martinez-Hernandez and Amenta, 1993). The plasminogen activator/plasmin cascade is involved in degradation of type IV collagen and fibronectin (Gold *et al*, 1992; MacKay *et al*, 1990) and may thereby



Figure 3. Schematic representation of positive regulators of oval cell proliferation operating through paracrine and/or autocrine loops. aFGF: acidic fibroblast growth factor; EGFR: epidermal growth factor receptor; HGF: hepatocyte growth factor; IL-6: interleukin 6; LIF: leukemia inhibitor factor; LIFR: leukemia inhibitor factor receptor; SCF: stem cell factor; TGF- α : transforming growth factor- α ;TNF- α : tumor neucrosis factor- α ; TNFR-1: tumor neucrosis factor receptor-1; uPA: urokinase-type plasminogen activator; uPAR: urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor. Redrawn and modified from Alison (1998).

assist in the migration of oval cells into the parenchyma. Further, the matrix degradation may not only result in the release of pro-HGF, but also matrix bound TGF- β and possible EGF (Bisgaard *et al*, 1998; St Hilaire *et al*, 1983; Burwen *et al*, 1984). The injury cased by GalN, and the regenerative response caused by PHx, is diffuse throughout the entire hepatic lobule, whereas damage caused by CCl₄ and AA is limited to centrilobular and

periportal regions, respectively. To examine the relationship between the site of lobular damage and the induction of oval cell proliferation, Petersen *et al* (1998 b) compaired the regenerative responses to CCl₄, AA or PHx when combined with 2-AAF. It was found that the oval cell response to 2-AAF/AA treatment was significantly smaller than the corresponding response to 2-AAF/PHx and 2-AAF/CCL₄ treatment. Conversely, the proliferative response of intraportal bile duct epithelia was most intense in the 2-AAF/AA model. As the AA induced death of hepatocytes is likely to have effects on the connective tissue matrix of the periportal sites, the results suggest that the periportal matrix contributes significantly to the stimulation of oval cell activities.

1.9. Aims of the present study

The studies of regeneration from oval cells performed so far illustrate several aspects in which the process differs from ordinary liver regeneration based on mature cell populations. These differences include alterations in the networks of autocrine and paracrine mechanisms which stimulate the involved cells, and the presence of factors associated with regeneration from oval cells only. The number of molecules identified as associated with the oval cell response, and consequently our understanding of the mechanisms which control the activation, proliferation, migration and differentiation of oval cells, the following aims were defined for the present study:

 To start a mapping of genes that are highly expressed when oval cells are activated and recruited for liver regeneration.

 Characterize the roles of the identified gene products by analyzing the expression of the genes themselves and possible associated molecules.

Two different experimental approaches were used to identify genes associated with regeneration from oval cells: i) Suppression subtractive hybridization (SSH) analysis and ii) Signal peptide selection (SPS) combined with Northern blot analysis. For both approaches, the 2-AAF/PHx protocol was used to induce a regenerative response from oval cells. SSH analysis selects for differentially expressed genes at the cDNA level, that is, irrespective to the functional properties of the corresponding products. Consequently, this approach identifies products of differentially expressed genes which are present at all the cellular levels by which the oval cell associated response is characterized. Contrary, the SPS method selects for genes encoding secreted and membrane-bound molecules. This subgroup of molecules includes the growth modulators and receptors which regulate the actions of individual cells with respect to a regenerative response. The SPS method was introduced in the present study with the aim to focus on the category of secreted regulating molecules.

2. Materials and methods

Besides the materials and methods described in Paper I & II, the following experimental procedures were used in this study:

Preparation of the λ -RK18 vector

The λ -RK18 phage was amplified in *E. coli* strain BB4 (LE392.23) [F'Lacl⁹ZΔM15proABTn10(Tet^r)]) as described by Sambrook et al. (1989). λ-RK18 DNA was purified by use of the QIAGEN® Lambda Maxi kit according to the manufacturers instructions, except for the addition of a Proteinase K (50 µg/ml – approx. 20 U/µg) (BOEHRINGER MANNHEIM, Germany) treatment step by incubation at 56°C for 1 hour in 10 mM Tris (pH 7.6), 5 mM EDTA, 0.5% SDS, prior the column purification step. To prepare the λ -RK18 vector for cloning of cDNA in the unique Not I site, lambda cohesive ends were ligated followed by Not I digestion and dephosphorylation, essentially as described by Sambrook et al. (1989). The effect of the individual treatments was verified by comparative examination of infection efficiency. Obtained reductions were 2 x 10⁻³ and 5.5 x 10⁻² for ligated versus ligated/Not | treated and ligated/Not | treated versus ligated/Not I/dephosphorylated aliquots, respectively, and thereby within the described ranges for successful manipulations. Optimal λ -RK18:cDNA ratio was determined by trial ligations as described by Sambrook et al. (1989). Phage DNA was packed by use of GigaPack III Gold (Stratagene, La Jolla, CA) according to manufacturers instructions except for the termination volume, which was reduced to 1/10, in order to obtain a concentration of plaque forming units that made it possible to use the primary (nonamplified) phage library directly in phagemid excision reactions.

Construction of the λ RK18/PAI-1 positive control.

. . The 405 bp 5' PAI-1 sequence used to verify the functionality of the SPS method in our laboratory was prepared by PCR on full length PAI-1 in a pCR2.1 (Invitrogen Corp., Carlsbad,CA) vector background (from Dr. Hanne Cathrine Bisgaard). Primers for PCR amplification and introduction of *Not* I cloning sites were forward 5' – gcggccgcgggcacttccgaaagctccag- 3' and reverse 5' –gcggccgctggcgtccgcagt-actgatctc- 3'. The PCR reaction mixture was composed as follows: 1x PCR buffer (Perkin Elmer Corp., Norwalk, Connecticut), 200 μ M each dNTP, 10 pmole each forward and reverse primers, 2.5 U Ampli Taq polymerase (Perkin Elmer Corp.) and amplified in 30 cycles of 94°C for 30 seconds, 55°C for 30 seconds and 72°C for 30 seconds. The amplification product was subsequently ligated into pCR2.1 (Invitrogen) and plasmid DNA amplified in *E. coli*. The PAI-1 *Not* I fragment was obtained by *Not* I digestion and purification from agarose gel and ligated into λ -RK18. Correct orientation and in-frame cloning was verified by sequence determination of the cDNA insert from a sucrose positive YT455 PAI-1 yeast transformant as described in paper II.

3. Primary experimental approaches

3.1. Identification of genes associated with regeneration from oval cells by Suppression Subtractive Hybridization.

The Suppression Subtractive Hybridization method (SSH) used in this study (CLONTECH PCR-Select[™] cDNA subtraction, Clontech Laboratories Inc., Palo Alo, CA) is based on the principles of traditional subtractive hybridization, in which two mRNA populations (converted to cDNA) are compared by the use of one of the populations (called driver cDNA) as a reference in hybridization reactions. This subtraction makes it possible to isolate sequences which are expressed in only one of the populations (refered to as the tester cDNA). In addition to this basic concept, the PCR-Select[™] method uses a hybridization strategy which levels the concentration of high and low abundance sequences and a subsequent PCR amplification increases the sensitivity for detection of differentially expressed sequences.

In the present study, mRNA from the nonparenchymal cell (NPC) population at day 7 in the 2-AAF/PHx protocol was used to construct the tester cDNA population and mRNA from the NPC population of normal rats were used to construct the driver cDNA population. Although hepatocytes may be involved in generating the oval cell response, use of the NPC populations aimed the identification of differentially expressed genes towards the cell fraction which include the oval cell population. At day 7 in the 2-AAF/PHx protocol, no overt differentiation of oval cells is seen (see Paper I). Use of NCP populations from day 7 thereby selected for the identification of differentially expressed genes involved in the activation and proliferation of oval cells rather than differentiation.

3.1.1. The molecular basis of Suppression Subtractive Hybridization

In practice, the PCR Select[™] procedure implicates the following events (depicted in Figure 4): The two mRNA populations are converted into cDNA and further modified into short blunt-end sequences by digestion with the four base cutter *Rsal*. The cDNA representing the material under examination (the tester cDNA) is then divided into two aliqouts which are ligated with adaptor 1 or 2, respectively. These adaptors do not have a phosphate group and consequently only one strand of each adaptor attaches to the 5' end of the cDNA. The tester cDNA aliqouts are then separately hybridized with the second cDNA population (the driver cDNA), giving rise to molecules of the following types (Figure 4):

- a; Single stranded cDNAs present in the tester population only. The concentration of low and high abundance sequences is leveled as high abundance molecules re-anneal and form type b hybrids.
- b; Double stranded cDNAs of high abundance sequences from the tester population.
- c; tester + driver hybrids of cDNAs present in both populations.

J.

- d; single and double stranded cDNAs representing low and high abundance molecules present in the driver population only.
- The two hybridization reactions are subsequently mixed, without prior denaturation, resulting in the formation of type e hybrids, composed of double stranded subtracted cDNAs with different ends. Type e molecules are further enriched by addition of a new aliquot denatured driver cDNA.

The ends are then filled in by DNA polymerase, resulting in differentially expressed tester sequences (e type molecules) with different adaptor sequences in their 5' and 3' ends.


Figure 4. The molecular events of PCR-Select cDNA subtraction. Redrawn and modified from CLONTECH manual #PT1117-1.

Finally the entire reaction is subjected to PCR amplification. Only the differentially expressed tester cDNAs (type e) are exponentially amplified as type a and d molecules lack primer annealing sites and type c molecules are amplified in a linear fashion as primer

annealing sites are present in only one end. Type b molecules are potential targets for PCR amplification but this reaction is efficiently suppressed due to the adaptor design. Each of the two adaptor types are self-complimentary, resulting in the formation of pan-like secondary structures of type b molecules in favour of primer annealing during the PCR cycle annealing step.

3.1.2. Clones identified from the 2-AAF/PHx day 7 NPC population by use of SSH analysis

In the present study, the secondary SSH PCR reaction was used directly for cloning of differentially expressed sequences by use of the T/A vector pCR2.1 (Invitrogen Corp., Carlsbad, CA). The identity of the cDNA inserts from 119 clones was revealed by sequence analysis and comparison to known DNA or amino acid sequences or expressed sequence tags (ESTs) using the BLAST algorithm (<u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/BLAST/</u>). Twenty-nine known and five novel unique cDNA sequences in addition to four ESTs were identified as shown in Table 2.

As a SSH cDNA library is likely to contain false positives, the differential expression of identified genes must be confirmed by expression analysis. In the context of this thesis, eight of the known genes; Interleukin 1- β (IL-1 β), α -fetoprotein (AFP), ebnerin, eukaryotic initiation factor 67 kDa associated protein, interferon- γ receptor α (IFN- γ R α), gp91phox, lymphocyte function-associated molecule-1 α (LFA-1) and CXCR4 (Table 2, written in bold), were further analyzed by Northern blot analysis and all found to be differentially expressed. The calreticulin, PRxV and Hex sequences have subsequently been examined but differential expression was not detected for either of these genes (Bisgaard, unpublished results) As described in Paper II, the chemoattractant receptor CXCR4 is induced when oval progenitor cells are activated and might be a central

.....

component in a pathway which brings about oval cell activity-associated T-lymphocyte recruitment. The remaining seven examined genes are all parts of the gene network connected to Interferon γ and are modulated in regeneration from oval progenitor cells, as described in Paper I. The possible implications of the eight differentially expressed genes in oval progenitor cell activity will not be paid any further attention in this chapter, but are thoroughly examined in chapter 4, Paper I and II.

Table 2. Unique clones identified from the suppresion subtractive hybridization library using nonparenchymal cell populations from a 2-AAF/PHx treated rat day 7 as tester cDNA and nonparenchymal cell populations from a normal (control) rat as driver cDNA. Genes written in bold were further analyzed in Paper I or Paper II.

Gene name	Remarks	Acc no./References
High mobility group protein 14 (Hmg14)(murine)	non-histone chromosomal protein	NM_008251. Landsman and Bustin.(1990)
YWK-II	Rat sperm membrane protein related to A4 amyloid protein	M31322. Yan <i>et al.</i> (1990)
Atp1a1	ATPase, Na+K+ transporting, alpha 1 polypeptide	NM_012504. Shull <i>et al.</i> (1986)
CIIDBP	DNA-binding protein; high mobility group 1 protein homologue	L08814. Wang et al. (1993)
KIAA0235 protein (H. sapiens)	Novel gene isolated from male bone marrow myeloblast cell line KG-1	D87078. Nagase et al. (1996)
Interleukin-1β (IL-1β)	Inflammatory cytokine released from macro- phages. IL-1 β binds to IL-1R1 and induces trans- cription and translation if IFN- γ in hepatocytes.	M98820. Unpublished; Schroeder <i>et al.</i> (1998)
CXCR-4 (murine)	PBSF/SDF-1 receptor. Involved in liver regene- ration from oval progenitor cells (Müller <i>et al.</i> submitted to AJP)	D87747. Nagasawa <i>et al</i> . (1996)
Alpha-fetoprotein (AFP)	Oval progenitor cell marker. Suppresses IFN-γ production (Yamashita <i>et al.</i> 1994)	NM_012493. Jagodzinski <i>et al.</i> (1981)
Ebnerin	Involved in liver regeneration from oval progenitor cells. (Bisgaard et al. in preparation)	U32681. Li and Snyder. (1995)
Eukaryotic initia- tion factor (Eif-2) 67 kDa asso- ciated protein	Protects eIF-2 from inhibitory phosphorylation by IFN- γ induced eIF-2 kinases	L10652. Wu <i>et al</i> . (1993); Kumar <i>et al</i> . (1997)
Interferon-y	Cell surface receptor which exhibits ligand binding	AF201901. Direct submission
$\gamma R\alpha$	properties towards in the grant et al. 1996)	1999
Conserved ATPase domain protein of 44kDa (CADp44) (S. tridecemlineatus)	A regulatory subunit of the 26S Proteasome.	U36395. Bauer <i>et al</i> . (1996)
<i>sid23p</i> (murine)	Actin depolymerizing factor.	AB025406. Direct submission 1999

Gene name	Remarks	Acc no./References
54 kDa oligo- adenylate synthe- tase-like protein p540ASL (murine)	induced during maturation of murine dendritic cells.	AF068835. Tiefenthaler <i>et al.</i> (1999)
Calreticulin	Lectin-like chaperone which participates in the synthesis of several molecules including surface receptors and integrins (Michalak M <i>et al.</i> 1999). Not specifically associated with oval cell activity (Bisgaard unpublished result)	X53363. Murthy <i>et al.</i> (1990)
<i>Mannosidase 2, alpha B2(Man2b2)</i> (murine)	Mannose trimming	NM_008550. Hiramoto <i>et al.</i> (1997)
PRx IV	Peroxidins play a role in protecting protein free thiol groups against oxidative damage and thioredoxin-dependent peroxidase activity. PRxIV is a secretory form which functions within the extracellular space. Not specifically associated with oval cell activity (Bisgaard unpublished result)	AF106945. Matsumoto <i>et al.</i> (1999)
F-0-ATPase subunit b	Precursor of subunit b in H+-ATP synthase from mitochondria	M35052. Tsurumi <i>et al</i> . (1990)
F-box protein <i>FBL4</i> (H. sapiens)	Member of the expanding F-box protein family. F- box proteins are one of the four subunits of ubiquitin protein ligases (Cenciarelli <i>et al.</i> 1999)	AF199420. Direct submission 1999
Rap1B	Ras homologous GTPase implicated in cell proliferation and differentiation (Posern <i>et al.</i> 1998)	U07795. Direct submission. 1994
Putative secreted protein ZSIG37 (murine)	Function unknown.	AF192499. Direct submission. 2000
<i>gp91phox (Cybb)</i> (murine)	Heavy chain of cytochrome b558. Induced as a primary response gene by IFN-γ (Eklund and Skalnik. (1995)	U43384. Bjorgvinsdottir H <i>et al</i> . (1996)
Hex	Homeobox gene. Trancriptional regulator. Not specifically associated with oval cell activity (Bisgaard unpublished result)	D86383. Tanaka T <i>et al</i> . (1999)
Lymphocyte function-associ- ated molecule-1 α subunit (LFA- 1)(murine)	Lymphocyte adhesion receptor. Regulated in response to IFN-γ. Binds ICAM-1 and ICAM-2, which are induced as secondary response genes by IFN-γ. (Barker <i>et al.</i> 1989).	M60778. Kaufmann <i>et al.</i> (1991)
Ribosomal proteins L3, L4, L6, L12 and S7.	Ribosome subunits	X62166, X82180, X87107, X53504, X53377, respectively.
SSH clone G6	EST292485 from normalized rat liver	AW142249
SSH clone 41	EST189325 from normalized rat heart	AA799828
SSH clone 85	EST va73d09.r1 Mouse cDNA	AA272079
SSH clone 112	EST294771 from normalized rat embryo	AW913993
Five novel unique cDNA sequences		

Table 2. continued.

"·'

۰.

3.2. Identification of genes encoding secreted and membrane-bound proteins associated with regeneration from oval progenitor cells. Combination of The Signal Peptide Selection (SPS) method and expression analysis.

Virtually all proteins which are secreted or bound in the cell membrane of prokaryotes as well as eukaryotes are characterized by the presence of a provisional Nterminal sequence, a signal peptide, which controls their entry to the secretory pathway (Gierasch, 1989; von Heijne, 1990; Rapoport, 1992). Common to the structure of signal peptides is a positively charged n-region, followed by a hydrophobic h-region and a cregion in which the residues at position -3 and -1 must be small and neutral for cleavage to occur correctly (von Heijne, 1985). These features can be identified in the signal peptide of most known secreted proteins but the level of degeneracy within any one of these structural elements is rather high. Therefore, it is not possible to identify novel extracellular proteins by use of standardized signal peptide encoding cDNA probes or DNA database searches using e.g. expressed sequence tags. Consequently, in vivo methods were developed to select for secreted proteins (Tashiro et al, 1993; Klein et al, 1996; and variations of these e.g. Lim and Garzino-Demo, 2000; Jacobs et al, 1997). These methods all identify signal peptide encoding cDNA's based on their ability to complement for a deleted signal peptide encoding sequence of a naturally secreted gene product. An in vitro method based on sedimentation velocity of mRNA species bound to membraneassociated polysomes and subsequent hybridization to DNA microarrays has just been introduced (Diehn et al. 2000)

When the present study was initiated the Signal Peptide Selection (SPS) method (Klein *et al.*, 1996) appeared as the most suitable, as it has integrated a selection step and allows simultaneous examination of millions of cDNA clones (see below). The

.

capacity of the method developed by Tashiro *et al.* (1993) is much smaller as it requires a subsequent antibody based screening step, which makes this method unsuitable for examination of large amounts of cDNA's.

3.2.1. The Signal Peptide Selection method

The method to isolate genes encoding secreted and membrane-bound proteins developed by Klein *et al.* (1996) is based on a single-step selection in yeast. It takes advantage of the fact that the ability of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* to grow on a sucrose medium depends on the secretion of the *SUC2* encoded invertase enzyme, which catalyze the breakdown of sucrose into glucose and fructose (Figure 5, B). A library representing the cDNA of interest is established as *Not* I fragments in a λ -based shuttle vector, upstream a modified *suc2* gene, from which the sequence encoding the signal peptide and the initiator methionine is deleted (*suc2*^{Δ MSP}) (Figure 5, A). The cDNA/ *suc2*^{Δ MSP} constructs are subsequently converted to an *E.coli*/yeast plasmid library and introduced into a *SUC2* deleted yeast strain. To select for signal peptide encoding cDNAs cloned in-frame with the *suc2*^{Δ MSP} gene, yeast transformants are finally replicated onto a sucrose medium.

Only 0.6% of the wild-type invertase activity is sufficient to allow growth on sucrose medium (Kaiser et al, 1987), why even inefficient heterologous (e.g. mammalian) signal peptides are able to direct an invertase fusion protein to the secretory pathway. Klein et al (1996) demonstrated the potential of the SPS method by examining five cDNA libraries representing human bone marrow, whole rat embryo, rat embryonic brain or specific parts of embryonic rat brain. From a total of \approx 20 million yeast transformants, 49 sucrose positive clones were found to contain unique cDNAs encoding known proteins localized



Figure 5. The Signal Peptide Selection method. A) Schematic representation of the λ -based *E. coli* /yeast shuttle-vector for cloning of cDNAs upstream the modified invertase gene lacking the initiator methionine and the signal peptide (*suc2*^{Δ MSP}). Asterisks represent the initiator and terminator sites for f1 DNA synthesis and define the boundaries of the sequence excised as phagemid. This sequence include genes for selection of transformants and replication in *E. coli* and yeast, respectively. B) Schematic representation of the SPS method. The panels indicate the ability of the yeast strain YT455 to grow on sucrose when the *SUC2* gene is present in pRK18 as a wild type copy, MSP truncated, includes the first 46 amino acids of the secreted transforming growth factor β in the MSP truncated pRK18 version or when fused to a random collection of cDNAs, respectively. Redrawn and modified from Klein et al. (1996).

along the secretory pathway or exported to the cell surface or the extracellular environment. Another 17 cDNAs were related to known proteins which belonged to the same categories of destinations. Finally, 74 unique clones representing unknown genes were by computer analysis found to contain possible signal peptide encoding sequences. The known cDNAs included sequences encoding: members of the transforming growth factor and epidermal growth factor families, endocrine hormones, tyrosine- and serine/ threonine kinase receptors, cell adhesion molecules, extracellular matrix proteins and plasma proteins.

3.2.2. Construction of a λ RK18/PAI-1 positive control

In order to verify the functionality of the SPS method in our laboratory, a positive control was constructed. A 405 bp fragment, encoding the 23 amino acid signal peptide sequence and the first 99 amino acids of the structural gene from the secreted rat serine protease inhibitor, Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) (Zeheb and Gelehrter, 1988), was cloned in-frame with the *suc2*^{ΔMSP} gene. Replication of YT455 pRK18/PAI-1 transformants to sucrose plates resulted in positives after incubation for 2-3 days. Parallel examination of YT455 pRK18-insert transformants did not result in growth on sucrose plates even after 4 weeks of incubation.

3.2.3. Examination of a 2-AAF/PHx cDNA library by SPS analysis

Selection of cDNAs by SPS analysis is solely based on the functional properties of the examined sequences. As no subtraction or leveling steps are included in the method, highly expressed cDNAs which are able to complement for the truncated sucrose gene sequence will naturally constitute the preferential output. In order to increase the possibility of identifying molecules associated with regeneration from oval progenitor cells, cDNA from day 11 in the 2-AAF/PHx protocol was examined. At this time point the presence of progenitor cells was massive according to histological evaluation (See Figure 1 Paper II).

A total of 6 x 10^6 non-amplified λ RK18/2-AAF/PHx cDNA plaque forming units (pfu) were excised in pools of 10^5 pfu. To verify efficient ligation of cDNAs into the λ RK18 vector, phagemid DNA aliqouts representing the excised pools were examined by restriction analysis. Representative examples of successful ligation reactions are shown in Figure 6 A, the excised pRK18 vector in 6 B. Note that the smear between 1.3 and 2.3 kb representing the 500-1500 bp cDNAs (present in the 0.8 kb *Hind* III/*Xba* I fragment) is dominated by specific fragment lengths which differ between the individual cDNA pools. The weak 0.8 kb band in lane 1 and 3 – 7 indicates the presence of re-ligated pRK18 without insert. This background appears small when the relative intensity between the 6.3, 2.2 and 0.8 kb *Hind* III/*Hind* III and *Hind* III/*Xba* I vector bands is compared to the relative intensity of the corresponding bands in the pRK18 x *Hind* III/*Xba* I control (lane 2).

The 60 phagemid DNA pools were realized in a total of 4 x 10⁶ YT455 transformants and transferred to sucrose plates by replica plating. More than 500 sucrose positive transformants were preliminarily examined by PCR on yeast lysate and amplification products from the individual pools were subjected to insert size-alignment by gel electrophoresis, as a rough means to detect redundancy of positives. Accordingly, the 3 – 500 terminal bases of 110 inserts from sucrose positive transformants were sequence determined. By comparison to known DNA or amino acid sequences using the BLAST algorithm (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/BLAST/) 18 inserts were identified as unique known genes, included a signal peptide encoding sequence and were found to be cloned in-frame with the signal peptide sequence deleted sucrose gene (Table 3). Two inserts (aocp1 and aocp3 (associated with oval cell proliferation)) showed no significant homology to known sequences at either DNA or amino acid level but were identified as expressed sequence tags (EST) (acc. no. A1233493 and BE106481, respectively), one (aocp4) showed 87%



Figure 6. A) Analysis of λ RK18/insert ligation efficiency by *Hind* III/*Xba* I digestion of pRK18/insert DNA aliqouts and electrophoresis on a 1% agarose gel. Lane 1 represents the ligation of the 405 PAI-1 positive control fragment, lane 3 – 7 represents the ligation of 500 – 1500 bp size fractionated cDNA from a 2-AAF/PHx treated rat 11 days post PHx. H/X = *Hind* III/*Xba* I vector fragment, H/H = *Hind* III/ *Hind* III fragment, M = DNA ladder. B) Schematic representation of the excised phagemid pRK18, showing the position of the *Not* I cloningsite, *Hind* III and *Xba* I restriction sites and the relative positions of *E. coli* and yeast markers for selection of transformants and plasmid replication.

identity at the DNA level to human NY-REN-25 antigen (acc no. AF155103) and one (aocp2) showed 89% identity to a homo sapiens EST encoding a putative calciumtransporting ATPase (acc no. Al371849). The putative polypeptides generated from the preliminary sequence data of the inserts which showed no or limited homology to known sequences were analyzed by use of a computer program designed to search for signal peptides (Nielsen et al. 1997) and as the prognoses were positive all the sequences were further examined.

The remainder of the 110 examined inserts mainly consisted in varying 3'end truncations of the hemopexin, serum albumin, transferrin, ceruloplasmin or corticosteroid binding globulin cDNAs, but also in sequences which included a signal peptide cloned in the wrong orientation or sequences encoding internal regions of polypeptides localized to the secretory pathway (data not shown).

Table 3. cDNA clones isolated from a rat liver at the 11th day after the combined treatment of 2-AAF exposure and a 70 % hepatectomy in the 2-AAF/PHx protocol and cloned by use of the SPS method.

Clone	Name	Main features	Acc no./ References
1	Laucoarta common	Transmembrane recenter linked protein tracine	V00065 Baralay et al
	antigen; LCA-1; CD45	phosphatase.	(1987)
2	Ceruloplasmin	Plasma copper dependent oxidase involved in the	L33869. Fleming
	-	acute phase response and antioxidant systems.	and Gitlin (1990)
3	Transferrin	Major iron binding protein in vertebrate serum.	D38380. Escriva et al (1995)
4	Complement factor I	Regulatory plasma serine protease. (Schlaf et al, 1999)	Y18965. Direct submission (1999)
5	Alpha-1-macroglobulin	Plasma protease inhibitor.	M84000. Waerme- gard et al (1992)
6	OX47 antigen; Basigin	Plasma membrane glycoprotein of the immunoglo- bulin superfamily.	X54640. Fossum et al (1991)
7	Hemopexin	Plasma glycoprotein. Acute phase protein.	M62642. Nikkilae et al (1991)
8	Alpha albumin	A member of the serum albumin multigene family.	X76456. Belanger et al (1994)
9	Vitamin D-binding protein	A member of the serum albumin multigene family.	J05148. McLeod and Cooke (1989)
10	Corticosteroid-binding Globulin	Steroid-binding protein in plasma. Main carrier of glucocorticoids.	X70533. Scrocchi et al (1993)
11	Complement component	A late complement component of the membrane	AF184900 Direct
	C6	attack complex following complement activation. (Zhu <i>et al</i> , 2000)	submission (1999)
12	Fc gamma receptor type II	Receptor for the Fc domain of immunoglobulin G.	X73371. Bocek and Pecht (1993)
13	Serum albumin	Major plasma protein.	V01222. Sargent et al (1981)
14	Plasma protein; Inter-alpha-inhibitor H4	The single chain member of the plasma protein family inter-alpha-inhibitor.	Y11283. Soury <i>et al</i> (1998)
15	LMW T-kininogen; major acute phase alpha-1 protein	Plasma glycoprotein.	M11883. Furuto- Kato <i>et al</i> (1985)
16	Rat core protein	Transmembrane glycoprotein.	M81687. Pierce <i>et al</i> (1991)
17	Kidney injury molecule-1	Type 1 membrane protein.	AF035963. Ichimura et al (1998)
18	HMW K-kininogen	Plasma glycoprotein; Splice variant of LMW T-kininogen.	L29428. Kitagawa et al (1987)
19	aocp1	Novel cDNA 1 (SP561); associated with oval cell proliferation (aocp); 99% identity to rattus norvegicus EST	A1233493
20	aocp2	Novel cDNA 2 (SP587); associated with oval cell proliferation; 89% homology to homo sapiens EST; putative calcium-transporting ATPase.	A1371849
21	аосрЗ	Novel cDNA 3 (SP611); associated with oval cell Proliferation; 99% identity to rattus norvegicus EST	BE106481
22	aocp4	Novel cDNA 4 (SP622); associated with oval cell proliferation; 87% identity to H. sapiens NY-REN-25 antigen.	AF155103

None of the potential candidates for identification by SPS analysis, encoding secreted or membrane-bound proteins which are known to respond in the 2-AAF/PHx protocol by increased transcriptional activity, e.g. transforming growth factor- α (TGF- α), acidic fibroblast growth factor (aFGF), hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) (Evarts *et al.* 1993), stem cell factor (SCF) and its receptor c-*kit* (Fujio *et al.* 1994), the fibroblast growth factor receptor-1 and -2 (Hu *et al.* 1995), leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) and its receptor LIFR (Omori *et al.* 1996) or urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA), its receptor uPAR and plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) (Bisgaard *et al.* 1998), were cloned in the present study. The absence of genes which are known to be induced in the 2-AAF/PHx model may reflect a relatively low abundance of the corresponding transcripts within the total RNA pool as compared to the identified transcripts e.g. albumin and transferin (proteins normally produced and secreted by hepatocytes).

3.2.4. Northern blot analysis of cDNAs identified from the SPS library

To examine for a possible role of the identified genes (Table 3) during liver damage and regeneration, particularly in regeneration from oval progenitor cells, the cDNAs were analyzed by Northern blotting of RNA extracted from livers of rats exposed to experimental regimens inducing different regenerative responses (Figure 7). Three regimens represent responses which are known to induce either activation or activation, extensive proliferation, migration and differentiation of oval progenitor cells;

2-AAF treatment (Figure 7, Iane B, H and K) inhibits mitotic activity in hepatocytes and activates oval progenitor cell proliferation in bile ducts and ductules, as shown by [³H]-thymidine labeling and detection of the liver-specific transcription factors hepatocyte nuclear factor 1β (HNF1β), HNF3γ and their target genes AFP and albumin, in the activated structures (Bisgaard et al. 1996). It was further shown that 2-AAF treatment

resulted in an increased number of apoptotic cells in portal areas, a process that contributed to the overall retention of liver morphology.

- When 2-AAF is combined with a 70% PHx (Figure 7 lane G and J), inhibition of mitotic activity in hepatocytes and activation of oval progenitor cells are followed by extensive proliferation, expansion into the liver parenchyma and differentiation of oval progenitor cells (Nagy et al. 1994, Evarts et al. 1996).
- D-galactosamine exposure (Figure 7 lane C) cause parenchymal necrosis and compromise mitotic activity in hepatocytes for two days whereas oval progenitor cells replicate at day 1 and subsequently differentiate into small hepatocytes (Lemire et al. 1991). Normal liver structure is restored within only 7 10 days after GalN injection (Lemire et al. 1991) as mature hepatocytes make up an important source of tissue renewal.

The remaining examined regimens are known to induce extensive regenerative responses but oval progenitor cell activity has not been reported in these models;

- Ligation of the common bile duct (BDL) (Figure 7 lane E) induces bile duct hyperplasia without penetration of the parenchyma (Lenzi et al. 1992) or expression of hepatocyte enriched transcription factors (Bisgaard et al. 1996).
- Removal of 90% of the liver mass (90% PHx) without toxic injury to the liver (Figure 7 lane M and N) stimulates all liver cell populations to proliferate (Tygstrup et al. 1996).
- Both acetaminophen intoxication (APAP) (Figure 7 lane D) and endotoxin stimulation (LPS) (Figure 7 lane O and P) induce hepatic dysfunction and hepatocyte death.

Injection of NaCl, sham operation with laparotomy only and late stages of regeneration from 70% PHx was used as controls for the above regimens (Figure 7 lane A, F, I and L, respectively).

To verify oval cell activity in animals exposed to GalN and the 2-AAF/PHx protocol (Figure 7 lane C, G and J), expression of the commonly used oval cell marker α -fetoprotein (AFP) was included in the Northern blot analysis. The observed signal intensity in the GalN and 2-AAF/PHx protocols is in accordance with the relative presence of oval cells at the examined time points. AFP expression could not be detected in the remaining examined regimens, reflecting the absence of significant oval cell response in these protocols.

In general the Northern blots show that among the known cDNAs, only CD45 expression is specifically associated with the regimens which extensively induce oval cell activity, whereas expression of all the novel cDNAs seems to be associated with oval cell activity. This pattern of differential expression is more clearly illustrated in Figure 8, in which the relative intensity of the Northern blot hybridization signals are quantified by densiometric scanning. The implications of the Northern blot analysis in the context of liver regeneration from oval progenitor cells are further analyzed in Paper II and will not be commented any further in this chapter. Only, it should be noted that the Northern blot analysis in the case of complement component C6 revealed an additional hybridization signal which the BLAST database search could not account for. Significant alignment values were produced for sequences from M. musculus and H. sapiens only. The mRNA from these species are stated as 2.8 kb and 3.5 kb, respectively. The rat complement component C6 cDNA cloned in this study hybridized to RNA of approximately 3 kb but also to RNA of approximately 0.8 kb. Further, the relative intensity of the 3 kb and 0.8 kb signals was not identical within the individual regimens (Figure 7). Northern blot analysis of the Fc gamma receptor cDNA did also produce hybridization signals in addition to the corresponding 1.5 kb mRNA, but in this case the BLAST search identified several

sequences from related Fc gamma receptor types (data not shown). As neither the complement component C6 nor the Fc gamma receptor was identified as specifically associated with regeneration in oval progenitor cell activating protocols, the Northern blot analysis results were not paid any further attention in the present study.



Figure 7. Northern blot analysis of cDNAs identified by use of the Signal Peptide Selection method applied on a cDNA library from the 11th day of a rat liver regenerating in the 2-AAF/PHx regimen. Hybridization of αfetoprotein (AFP) (Figure 7 continued) is shown to verify oval cell activity. Each lane was loaded with 10 µg of total liver RNA isolated from male Wistar rats exposed to the regimens indicated and sacrificed at the time points stated. Control liver, 2-acetylaminofluorene (A); (2-AAF), (B, H, K); D-galactosamine (GalN). (C): acetaminophen (APAP), (D); bile duct ligation (BDL), (E); sham operation with laparotomy only (Sham), (F); 2acetylamino-fluorene and 70% partial hepatectomy (2-AAF/PHx), (G, J); 70% partial hepatectomy (PHx), (I, L); 90% partial hepatectomy (PHx 90%), (M, N); lipopolysaccharide (LPS), (O, P). PCR generated copies of the cloned cDNAs and AFP were ³²Plabeled and used for hybridization.



Figure 7. Continued



Figure 8. Quantification of the relative expression levels by densitometric scanning of the Northern blot analysis (Figure 7). Expression values of the individual experimental models were quantified relative to the control liver in which the density value was set to one. Note that the scale of the Y-axis differs between the diagrams. Capitals (X-axis) refer to the individual regimens as in Figure 7.





Figure 8. Continued



Kidney injury molecule-1



ABCDEFGHIJKLMNOP Regimen











aocp4



4. Discussion

Numerous studies have described the functional and physical properties of oval cells but our knowledge concerning the molecular mechanisms which regulate regeneration from this cell type is guite limited. A mechanism for priming of hepatocytes through the cascade initiated by TNF- α and IL-6 can, to a great extent, explain the efficient response after PHx treatment, but the mechanism by which oval cells are primed, does still appear rather unclarified. The GalN protocol demonstrates that the oval cell response can be guite fast, but oval cells are not significantly involved in the response to mass reduction by PHx. The ability of oval cells to compensate for a reduced proliferative activity of hepatocytes in IL-6 knockout mice (Rosenberg et al, 2000) further indicates that different mechanisms are responsible for the priming of hepatocytes and oval cells. The majority of growth modulators known to be involved in regeneration after PHx treatment are also present in regeneration from oval cells. The prolonged expression and individual characters of many of these growth modulators indicate their pleiotrophic functions as stimulators of migration and differentiation in addition to the proliferative effect (see chapter 1). However, the expression of other factors such as SCF (Fujio et al, 1994), IL-1 β , IL-18 and IFN- γ (Paper I), indicates, that regulatory mechanisms exist, which are involved only when liver regeneration is effectuated by the activation, proliferation and differentiation of oval cells.

Considering the present status of oval cell research, a mapping of differentially expressed genes seemed as an appropriate means to enhance our understanding of the molecular mechanisms involved in regeneration from oval cells. Experimental data provided in this work, concerning genes associated with oval cell activity, are summarized in Table 4. A complete mapping is, however, an extremely resource demanding task.

Table 4. Summary of genes examined in the present study which were found to be associated with oval cell activity.

Gene products identified by SSH or SPS combined with Northern blot anal	ysis
---	------

Gene name	Remarks
IFN-γRα	Cell surface receptor which exhibits ligand binding properties towards IFN- γ (Arany <i>et al</i> , 1998). Constitutively expressed by NPC populations in normal liver but the expression increases in response to 2-AAF/PHx treatment when the relative abundance of specific cell types in the NPC populations increases. Protein detected in ductular structures of oval cells as well as in cells located in the sinusoids.
gp91phox	Heavy chain of cytochrome b558. Induced as a primary response gene by IFN- γ (Eklund and Skalnik. (1995). Expressed at low levels in normal liver. Induced in response to 2-AAF.
IL-1β	IL-1 β binds to IL-1R1 and induces transcription and translation if IFN- γ in hepatocytes (Schroeder <i>et al</i> , 1998). Expressed at low levels in normal liver. Induced in response to 2-AAF but expression peaks at 12 hours and 36 hours in the PHx protocol too.
LFA-1	Lymphocyte adhesion receptor. Regulated in response to IFN- γ . Binds ICAM-1 and ICAM-2, which are induced as secondary response genes by IFN- γ . (Barker <i>et al.</i> 1989). Expressed at low levels in normal liver. Transcript level increases in the 2-AAF and 2-AAF/PHx protocols.
elF-2- associated 67- kd protein	Protects eIF-2 from inhibitory phosphorylation by IFN-γ induced eIF-2 kinases (Wu <i>et al.</i> 1993; Kumar <i>et al.</i> 1997). Constitutively expressed by NPC populations in normal liver but the expression increases in response to 2-AAF/PHx treatment when the relative abundance of specific cell types in the NPC populations increases.
α-fetoprotein	Oval cell marker which suppresses IFN-γ production (Yamashita <i>et al.</i> 1994). Constitutively expressed by NPC populations in normal liver. Induced in response to 2-AAF.
Ebnerin	Homologous gene expressed in the bile ducts of the adult mouse liver (Cheng <i>et al</i> , 1996). Constitutively expressed by NPC populations in normal liver. Induced in response to 2-AAF.
CXCR4	PBSF/SDF-1 receptor (Nagasawa <i>et al.</i> 1996). Transcript not detectable in normal liver. Expressed in response to 2-AAF and 2-AAF/PHx treatment.
CD45RO	Transmembrane receptor-linked protein tyrosine phosphatase predominately expressed by memory T lymphocytes (Altin and Sloan, 1997). Constitutively expressed at low levels in normal liver. Expression of transcript increases in response to 2-AAF and 2-AAF/PHx treatment.
aocp1	Novel cDNA cloned in the present study. 99% identity to rattus norvegicus EST (acc. no. A1233493). Transcript not detectable in normal liver. Expressed in response to 2-AAF and 2-AAF/PHx treatment. In a multiple tissue Northern blot analysis detected in testis only.
aocp2	Novel cDNA cloned in the present study. 89% identity to homo sapiens EST (acc. no. A1371849) encoding a putative calcium-transporting ATPase. Expression of transcript increases in response to 2-AAF and 2-AAF/PHx treatment. Detected in several tissues of normal rat.
аосрЗ	Novel cDNA cloned in the present study. 99% identity to rattus norvegicus EST (acc. no. BE106481) Expression of transcript increases in response to 2-AAF and 2-AAF/PHx treatment. Detected in several tissues of normal rat.

Gene name	Remarks
aocp4	Novel cDNA cloned in the present study. 87% identity to homo sapiens NY-REN-25 antigen (acc. no. AF15503) Expression of transcript increases in response to 2-AAF and 2-AAF/PHx treatment. Detected in several tissues of normal rat.

Additional genes studied by Northern blot analysis and/or immunohistochemistry

IFN-γ	High affinity ligand of IFN-γRα (Boehm <i>et al</i> , 1997). mRNA levels not detectable in normal liver but increases to low levels in 2-AAF and 2-AF/PHx treated animals.
IL-18	Induces IFN-γ production in T-lymphocytes (Okamura <i>et al</i> , 1995). Transcript levels increases in response to 2-AAF and increases further when combined with PHx. IL-18 protein highly expressed in sinusoidal lining cells as well as in the ductular structures of oval cells.
ICE	Induced as a secondary response gene by IFN- γ , involved in the activation of IL-1 β and IL-18 (Gu <i>et al</i> , 1997; Tamura <i>et al</i> , 1995). Transcript levels increases in response to 2-AAF and increases further when combined with PHx. Protein detected over the ductular structures of oval cells.
IFN-γ R β	β -chain of the IFN- γ receptor complex, involved primarily in signaling (Boehm <i>et al</i> , 1997). Among NPC populations only oval cell structures stained for IFN- γ R β . Mature hepatocytes also stained (weakly) positive.
uPAR	Induced by IFN- γ as a secondary response gene (Sitrin <i>et al</i> , 1994). Transcript levels increases in response to 2-AAF and 2-AAF/PHx treatment. Protein present in NPC populations of bile duct and/or oval cells.
uPA	Induced by IFN-γ (Sitrin <i>et al</i> , 1994). Transcript levels increases in response to 2-AAF and 2-AAF/PHx treatment. Protein present in NPC populations of bile duct and/or oval cells.
ICAM-1	Induced as a secondary response gene by IFN-γ, binds to LFA-1 (Boehm <i>et al</i> , 1997). Protein present in NPC populations of bile duct and/or oval cells.
Thy-1	Membrane-anchored molecule which can interact with CD45 (Volarevic <i>et al</i> , 1990; Altin and Pagler, 1995). Transcript not detectable in normal liver. Transcript expressed in response to 2-AAF treatment, expression level increases further when combined with PHx.
SDF-1	Sole ligand for CXCR4 (Zou <i>et al</i> , 1998). High steady state transcript level in normal liver, decreases in response 2-AAF treatment and decreases further when combined with PHx.

Table 4. Continued.

.

In a recent study, Phillips *et al* (2000) applied an experimental approach based on subtracted cDNA libraries from highly purified murine fetal liver hematopoietic stem cells (FLHSC) in order to map the genetic program on which stem cell regulation is based. 5' end sequencing of almost 6000 subtracted clones identified at least 161 transcription

factors, 174 cell-surface or membrane-associated molecules, 28 secreted proteins and 147 signaling molecules. Many of the identified molecules were novel or found in stem cells for the first time. The efficacy of the subtraction was verified by the absence of β-actin and the retention or enrichment of gene products such as the marker of hematopoietic stem- and progenitor cells, CD34 (Krause et al, 1996). The database representing the sequences of the FLHSC subtraction libraries (http://stemcell.princeton.edu) includes several of the molecules (or associated molecules) known to be expressed by oval cells, e.g. uPAR, ICAM-1, IL-6 receptor and IL-18 receptor associated protein (Chapter 1 and Paper I). This coincidence of molecules associated with hematopoietic stem cell and oval cell activities is not surprising, considering the stem cell-like properties of oval cells and the ability of bone marrow stem cells to substitute hepatocytes in the presence of 2-AAF (Petersen et al, 1999). A Blast search with aocp1-4 against the hematopoietic stem cell database did not result in significant hits. In addition to the incompleteness of the database, several circumstances can account for this lack of hits, including the possibility aocp1-4 genes are not expressed by oval cells themselves. Of the unknown cDNAs from the SSH library (Table 2) only #SSH clone 112 (EST294771 from normalized rat embryo), was identical to an EST sequence in the stem cell database (SC LL2 in 14518T7I19945).

In the present study, an approach based on SPS analysis was introduced in addition to the SSH analysis, in order to focus on the subgroup of oval cell associated molecules, which may be involved in the regulation of oval cell activities through an extracellular destination or presence on cell surfaces. The identified genes from the SSH and SPS libraries need to be analyzed further, but the genes that were examined more extensively indicated a quite interesting aspect of oval cell regulation: A part of the genes identified from the SSH library (Paper I); IFN- $\gamma R\alpha$, gp91phox, IL-1 β , LFA-1, eIF-2-

associated 67-kd protein and AFP, are all implicated in the gene network connected to IFN- γ . Their expression in the 2-AAF/PHx protocol was analyzed by Northern blotting and immunohistochemistry and additional components of the gene network; IFN- γ itself, the β -subunit of the IFN- γ receptor, the IFN- γ induced uPA, three secondary response genes induced by IFN- γ (IL-1 β -converting enzyme (ICE), intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) and uPAR), and IL-18, were included in the expression analysis. All the examined IFN- γ -connected molecules turned out to be modulated in regeneration from oval cells. It was found that the IFN- γ receptor α and β subunits and ICAM-1 all were expressed on oval cells and Northern blot analysis revealed an increased expression of LFA-1. It was also shown that IL-18, a strong inducer of IFN- γ production in T-cells (Okamura *et al*, 1995), is expressed by oval cells. Further, the ICE protein, a protease that converts IL-18 precursors to an active form (Gu *et al*, 1997), was detected over the ductular structures of oval cells, indicating that oval cells not only can produce IL-18 but also process it to an active form.

Of the known proteins identified from the SPS library, only CD45 turned out as specifically associated with oval cell activity (Chapter 3; Paper II). This observation is, however, quite interesting, as CD45 may be a central factor in the microenvironmental changes orchestrating oval cell activity and which include the induction of the gene network connected to IFN-γ. The CD45 isoform cloned from the SPS library corresponds to the low molecular form (CD45RO-positive) predominantly expressed by memory T-cells (Altin and Sloan, 1997). CD45 can associate with the membrane-anchored oval cell marker Thy-1 (Volarevic *et al*, 1990; Altin and Pagler, 1995; Petersen *et al*, 1998 a). Thy-1 might be involved in cellular recognition, adhesion and T-cell activation (Williams, 1985; Huber *et al*, 1992; Hozumi *et al*, 1994). The increased expression of CD45 and Thy-1

which associates oval cell recruitment (Paper II) thereby may reflect that CD45 mediates a contact between IFN- γ producing T-lymphocytes and oval cells, through Thy-1. This hypothesis is supported by the observation that several molecules which can reinforce the contact and mutual stimulation between T-lymphocytes and oval cells are induced when oval cells are activated (Paper I; Paper II); The membrane-bound molecule ICAM-1 was found to be extensively expressed by oval cells and the expression of its adhesion-partner, LFA-1, has been found to be highly increased on the surface of memory T-cells (Sanders *et al*, 1988). ICAM-1 and LFA-1 are both induced by IFN- γ . Further, oval cells provide components for the regulation of IFN- γ expression by the secretion of AFP and IL-18, which inhibits or stimulates IFN- γ production, respectively (Yamashita *et al*, 1994; Okamura *et al*, 1995).

The chemokine receptor CXCR4 was among the genes identified from the SSH library (Chapter 3, Table 2). CXCR4 mRNA is expressed by lymphocytes (Loetsher *et al*, 1994) and is the sole receptor for the chemoattractant stromal cell derived factor-1 (SDF-1) (Zou *et al*, 1998). SDF-1 has been recognized as a highly efficient inducer of lymphocyte migration. (Bleul *et al*, 1996). Both CXCR4 and SDF-1 expression is modulated when oval cells are activated by 2-AAF (Paper II, Figure 5) and thereby appears to be central elements in the pathway by which T-lymphocytes can be guided to the localization of oval cells. The SDF-1 mRNA steady state level is high in normal liver, but no expression of CXCR4 can be detected (Paper II, Figure 5), indicating that SDF-1 is either modified, inhibitors are removed, or that SDF-1 interacts with co-factors, in order to elicit its function as a chemoattractant. The possible scenario for an interaction between T-lymphocytes and oval cells is illustrated in Figure 9.



Figure 9. Model representing the interactions between IFN- γ producing T-lymphocytes and oval cells. CXCR4 and SDF-1 are central factors in the pathway involved in T-lymphocyte recruitment and the initial contact between the two cell types is established by CD45 and Thy-1. Paracrine and autocrine loops reinforce the contact and the exposure of oval cells to IFN- γ .

The functional implication(s) of a recruitment of IFN- γ producing T-lymphocytes when oval cells are activated is not known. However, for all examined components of the gene network connected to IFN- γ , IFN- γ itself, SDF-1 and CXCR4, expression is modulated in response to 2-AAF alone, indicating a role for this system in an early phase of oval cell activation. The properties of IFN- γ include orchestration of lymphocyteendothelium interactions and effects on cell proliferation and apoptosis, but more than 200 genes are known to be regulated by IFN- γ , reflecting an extraordinary complexity of the IFN- γ response (Boehm *et al*, 1997). In mice with a demonstrable lack of IFN- γ mediated cellular responses, due to targeted mutations in the IFN- γ genes, in the gene of the only known receptor for IFN- γ , or the main transcription factor which mediates IFN- γ responses, STAT-1, the only phenotypic abnormalities are seen in the lymphoid system and consequently heightened susceptibility to a variety of pathogens (Dalton *et al*, 1993; Huang *et al*, 1993; Meraz *et al*, 1996). *In vitro* studies by Marra *et al* (1996) showed that DNA synthesis rates were only slightly influenced by IFN- γ itself but increased significantly when pre-treatment with IFN- γ was combined with exposure to growth factors like EGF. It therefore seems possible that IFN- γ , through STAT-1, primes oval cells *in vivo* for the mitogenic effect of growth factors.

The indications that IFN- γ is a key molecule involved in an early phase of oval cell activation, eventually as a priming factor, need to be examined more thoroughly. In case that the role of IFN- γ , in protocols which induce an oval cell response, is parallel to the role of TNF- α in simple regeneration, new treatment strategies can be implemented in the clinic, e.g. in the context of pathological conditions which are characterized by uncontrolled growth of oval cells. A more thoroughly examination of the role of IFN- γ in the context of the data presented here, might include examination of CD45/CXCR4 co-expression from T-lymphocytes by immunohistochemical analysis or *in situ* hybridization. Ultimately, exposure of an IFN- γ deleted rat to the 2-AAF/PHx protocol would enlighten the importance of this cytokine.

Recent results have demonstrated that cells of bone marrow origin can function as a source of several liver cell types (see chapter 1.4). As an alternative to the described hypothesis of T-lymphocyte recruitment in the 2-AAF and 2-AAF/PHx protocols, the modulation of CD45, CXCR4 and LFA-1 expression observed in the present study (Paper I and Paper II) might reflect a recruitment of hematopoietic progenitor cells. Bone marrow derived CD34⁺ subpopulations, defined by CD45 isoform expression, have been studied by flow cytometry and it was shown that the most primitive hematopoietic CD34⁺ cells are CD45RO positive (Craig *et al*, 1994). SDF-1 is a highly efficacious lymphocyte

chemoattractant which mediates its effect through CXCR4 (Zou et al, 1998; Bleul et al, 1996), but CXCR4 is expressed by primitive hematopoietic CD34⁺/Thy-1⁺ cells also (Möhle et al, 1998). Human CD34⁺ hematopoietic progenitor cells are attracted by bone marrow derived stromal cell SDF-1 (Aiuti et al, 1997) why liver derived SDF-1 may bring about a similar effect on this cell type. Further, LFA-1 and ICAM-1, which were found to be associated with regeneration from oval cells (Paper I), seems important in the process of hematopoietic stem cell homing too (Peled et al, 2000). As both T-lymphocytes and hematopoietic progenitor cells can express molecules such as CXCR4, CD45RO and LFA-1. Northern blot analysis alone does not account for the recruitment of a specific cell type when the liver regenerates in the 2-AAF/PHx protocol. Immunohistochemical analyses will be more suitable to address this question. Recruitment of hematopoietic progenitor cells, rather than T-lymphocytes, in the 2-AAF and 2-AAF/PHx protocols involve the existence of an alternative to T-lymphocytes as a source of IFN- γ production. IL-1 β has been shown to induce IFN- γ production in hepatocytes (Schroeder *et al*, 1998) and the induction of IL-1 β in response to 2-AAF and 2-AAF/PHx (but also PHx alone) (Paper I) thereby makes hepatocytes to a possible source of IFN-y in the 2-AAF and 2-AAF/PHx protocols. However, in the BMx and WLTx experiments by Petersen et al (1999), which included the 2-AAF/CCl₄ protocol, less than 0.2% of the hepatocytes were shown to originate from donor bone marrow at day 13 after hepatic injury. The proportion of Thy-1⁺ cells of donor origin was about 0.1% and the biological importance of cells originating from bone marrow, when the liver regenerates in the 2-AAF/CCL₄ protocol, therefore seems questionable.

By use of the SPS approach (Chapter 3; Paper II), four novel genes were identified as associated with oval cell proliferation. One of these, aocp1, appeared

especially interesting, as its expression was exclusively restricted to the 2-AAF and 2-AAF/PHx regimens. Further, in tissues of normal rats, the aocp1 transcript was detected in testis only. The latter finding might reflect that aocp1, like SCF-1, is involved in spermatogenesis as well as the stimulation of oval cells (Fujio *et al*, 1994; Loveland and Schlatt, 1997). Identification of aocp1 producing cells, e.g. by immunohistochemical analysis or *in situ* hybridization and identification of interacting molecules, e.g. by a yeast two hybrid screening of a testis library, are obvious future steps in the functional characterization of aocp1.

Experimental situations have been described in which renewal of liver cells, as well as fully differentiated cells of other tissues, involve tissue-specific adult stem cells (Petersen *et al*, 1999; Theise *et al*, 2000 a; Theise *et al*, 2000 b; Kooy and Weiss, 2000). These recent observations does not only indicate an extraordinary plasticity of adult stem cells but also that the process of stem cell differentiation into mature cell types is influenced by the tissue-specific microenvironment. The integrity of this microenvironment is adequately conserved in the 2-AAF/PHx and GalN protocols to allow complete regeneration from oval cells, and apparently destroyed in some chronically liver diseases or poisoning in which the mechanisms controlling oval cell differentiation are absent. A complete characterization of the liver microenvironment seems as a quite distant prospect. However, future mapping strategies based on subtraction cloning could be directed towards the individual pathological situations and thereby identify relevant key molecules, e.g. by use of 2-AAF/PHx cDNAs as the tester population and cDNAs from an APAP poisoned liver as the driver population.

5. Concluding remarks

Despite considerable research efforts during the past years, surprisingly little is known about the molecular mechanisms which control the actions of oval cells in liver regeneration. The majority of studies conducted so far, has focused on the role of factors known to be involved in regeneration from mature cell types.

The experimental approaches, based on Suppression Subtractive Hybridization and Signal Peptide Selection, applied in the present study, have demonstrated that regeneration from oval cells differ from simple regeneration by the specific expression of several known and novel molecules. These findings include, that genes of the network connected to IFN- γ are specifically induced when oval cells are recruited for regeneration. Some members of this network, e.g. the receptor for IFN- γ , ICAM-1 and IL-18, are expressed by oval cells. Others, like IFN- γ and LFA-1, appears to be characteristics of the changes in the microenvironment which associate regeneration from oval cells. Additional microenvironmental alterations was demonstrated by the modulation of CD45, CXCR4 and SDF-1 expression. The increased expression of CD45, LFA-1 and CXCR4 may reflect that cells of the hematopoietic system are recruited when liver regeneration is accomplished by oval cells. Whether such hematopoietic cells are represented by oval cell stimulating IFN- γ producing T lymphocytes, or more primitive progenitor cells, which themselves can differentiate into liver cells, needs to be examined further.

Finally, the detection of aocp1 expression as highly restricted to the 2-AAF and 2-AAF/PHx protocols, as well as the restricted association with testis among multiple adult tissues, indicates a central role of aocp1 in the pathways associated with recruitment of oval cells for liver regeneration.

Acknowledgements

The work presented here has been carried out at the Department of Life Sciences and Chemistry, Roskilde University, Roskilde, Denmark.

I am very grateful to Dr. Hanne Cathrine Bisgaard, my supervisor, for introducing me to the exciting field of liver regeneration, and for useful discussions and support during the work. I also want to thank her for contributions in the preparation of Paper II and for critical reading of the thesis.

I sincerely thank all the past and present members at the Department of Life Sciences and Chemistry for good advice and a pleasant and stimulating working atmosphere. My most sincere thanks are due to Gerda D. Olesen for useful technical discussions and also for creating a good spirit in the lab.

I thank my family for their understanding and support during this work and Mogens and Lisbet Müller for their great hospitality.

References

Aiuti A, Webb IJ, Bleul C, Springer T, Gutierrez-Ramos JC. 1997. The chemokine SDF-1 is a chemoattractant for human CD34+ hematopoietic progenitor cells and provides a new mechanism to explain the mobilization of CD34+ progenitors from peripheral blood. J. Exp. Med. 185, 111-120.

Alison M. 1998. Liver stem cells: a two compartment system. Curr. Opin. Cell. Biol. 10, 710-715.

Alison M, Golding M, Lalani E-N, Sarraf C. 1998. Wound healing in the liver with particular reference to stem cells. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B. 353, 877-894.

Alison M, Golding M, Lalani E-N, Nagy P, Thorgeirsson SS, Sarraf C. 1997. Wholesale hepatocytic differentiation in the rat from ductular oval cells, the progeny of biliary stem cells. J Hepatol. 26, 343-352.

Alison MR, Golding M, Sarraf CE, Edwards RJ, Lalani E-N. 1996. Liver damage in the rat induces hepatocyte stem cells from biliary epithelial cells. Gastroenterology. 110, 1182-1190.

Altin JG, Sloan EK. 1997. The role of CD45 and CD45-associated molecules in T cell activation. Immunol. Cell. Biol. 75, 430-445.

Altin G, Pagler EB. 1995. A one-step procedure for biotinylation and chemical cross-linking of lymphocyte surface and intracellular membrane-associated molecules. Anal. Biochem. 224, 382-389.

Arany I, Tyring SK, Brysk H, Brysk MM. 1998. Induction by interferon-γ of its receptor varies with epithelial differentiation and cell type. Arch Dermatol Res. 290, 331-334.

Bachmann W, Harms E, Hassels B, Henninger H, Reuter W. 1977. Studies on rat liver plasma membrane, altered protein and phospholipid metabolism after injection of D-galactosamine. Biochem. J. 166, 455-462.

Barclay AN, Jackson DI, Willis AC, Williams AF. 1987. Lymphocyte specific heterogeneity in the rat leucocyte common antigen (T200) is due to differences in polypeptide sequences near the NH2-terminus. EMBO J. 6, 1259-1264.

Barker JN, Allen MH, MacDonald DM. 1989. The effect of interferon-γ on the distribution of LFA-1 and ICAM-1 in normal human skin. J Invest Dermatol. 93, 439-442.

Bauer, V.W., Swaffield, J.C., Johnston, S.A. and Andrews, M.T. 1996. CADp44: a novel regulatory subunit of the 26S proteasome and the mammalian homolog of yeast Sug2p. Gene 181, 63-69.

Belanger L, Roy S, Allard D. 1994. New albumin gene 3' adjacent to the alpha 1-fetoprotein locus. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 5481-5484.

Betto H, Kaneda K, Yamamoto T, Kojima A, Sakurai M. 1996. Development of intralobular bile ductules after spontaneous hepatitis in Long-Evans mutant rats. Lab. Invest. 75, 43-53.

Bisgaard HC, Santoni-Rugiu E, Nagy P, Thorgeirsson SS. 1998. Modulation of the plasminogen activator/plasmin system in rat liver regenerating by recruitment of oval cells. Lab Invest. 78, 237-246.

Bisgaard HC, Nagy P, Santoni-Rugiu E, Thorgeirsson SS. 1996. Proliferation, apotosis, and induction of hepatic transcription factors are characteristics of the early response of biliary epithelial (oval) cells to chemical carcinogens. Hepatology 23, 62-70.

Bisgaard HC, Nagy P, Ton PT, Hu Z, Thorgeirsson SS. 1994.

Modulation of keratin 14 and α -fetoprotein expression during hepatic oval cell proliferation and liver regeneration. J. Cel. Physiol. 159, 475-484.

Bjorgvinsdottir,H., Zhen,L. and Dinauer,M.C. 1996. Cloning of murine gp91phox cDNA and functional expression in a human X-linked chronic granulomatous disease cell line. Blood 87, 2005-2010.

Bleul CC, Fuhlbrigge RC, Casasnovas JM, Aiuti A, Springer TA. 1996. A highly efficacious lymphocyte chemoattractant, stromal cell-derived factor-1 (SDF-1). J. Exp. Med. 184, 1101-1109.

Bocek P, Pecht I. 1993. Cloning and sequence of the cDNA coding for rat type II Fc gamma receptor of mast cells. FEBS Lett. 331, 86-90.

Boehm U, Klamp T, Groot M, Howard JC. 1997. Cellular responses to interferon-γ. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 15, 749-795.

Burwen SJ, Barker ME, Goldman IS, Hradek GT, Raper SE, Jones AL. 1984. Transport of epidermal growth factor by rat liver: evidence for a nonlysosomal pathway. J. Cell. Biol. 99, 1259-1265.

Carthew P, Edwards RE, Hill RJ, Evans JG. 1989. Cytokeratin expression in cells of the rodent bile duct developing under normal and pathological conditions. Br. J. Expl. Pathol. 70, 717-725.

Cenciarelli C, Chiaur DS, Guardavaccaro D, Parks W, Vidal M, Pagano M. 1999. Identification of a family of human F-box proteins. Curr Biol. 9, 1177-1179.

Cheng H, Bjerknes M, Chen H. 1996. CRP ductin: a gene expressed in intestinal crypts and pancreatic and hepatic ducts. Anat. Rec. 244, 327-343.

Craig W, Popperna S, Little MT, Dragowska W, Lansdorp PM. 1994. CD45 isoform expression on human haemopoietic cells at different stages of development. Br. J. Haematol.88, 24-30.

Cressman DE, Greenbaum LE, DeAngelis RA, Ciliberto G, Furth EE, Poli V, Taub R. 1996. Liver failure and defective hepatocyte regeneration in interleukin-6-deficient mice. Science. 274, 1379-1383.

Cressman DE, Greenbaum LE, Haber BA, Taub R. 1994. Rapid activation of post-hepatectomy factor/nuclear factor κB in hepatocytes, a primary response in the regenerating liver. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 30429-30435.

Dabeva MD and Shafritz DA. 1993. Activation, proliferation, and differentiation of progenitor cells into hepatocytes in the D-galactosamine model of liver regeneration. Am J Pathol. 143, 1606-1620.

Dalton DK, Pitts.Meek S, Keshav S, Figari IS, Bradley A, Stewart TA. 1993. Multiple defects of immune cell function in mice with disrupted interferon-γ genes. Science. 259, 1739-1742.

Decker K, Keppler D. 1972. Galactosamine induced liver injury. In Progress in liver Diseases. Ed. Popper H, Schaffner F. New York, Grune & Stratton. 183-199.

Decker K, Keppler D. 1974. Galactosamine hepatitis: key role of the nucleotide deficiency period in the pathogenesis of cell injury and cell death. Rev. Physiol. Biochem. Pharmacol. 71, 78-106.

Diehn M, Eisen MB, Botstein D, Brown PO. 2000. Large-scale identification of secreted and membraneassociated gene products using DNA microarrays. Nature Genetics. 25, 58-62.

Dulic V, Lees E, Reed SI. 1992. Association of human cyclin E with a periodic G₁-S phase protein kinase. Science. 257, 1958-1961.

Eklund EA, Skalnik DG. 1995. Characterization of a gp91-phox promoter element that is required for interferon γ -induced transcription. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 8267-8273.

El-Deiry WS, Harper JW, O'Connor J, Velulescu VE, Canman C, Jackman J, Pietanpol J *et al.* 1994. WAF1/CIP1 is induced in *p53* mediated G₁ arrest and apoptosis. Cancer Res. 54, 1169-1174.

Escriva H, Pierce A, Coddeville B, Gonzalez F, Benaissa M, Leger D, Wieruszeski JM, Spik G, Pamblanco M. 1995. Rat mammary-gland transferrin: nucleotide sequence, phylogenetic analysis and glycan structure. Biochem. J. 307, 47-55.

Evarts RP, Hu Z, Omori N, Omori M, Marsden ER, Thorgeirsson SS. 1996. Precursor-product relationship between oval cells and hepatocytes: comparison between tritiated thymidine and bromodeoxyuridine as tracers. Carcinogenesis. 17, 2143-2151.

Evarts RP, Hu Z, Fujio K, Marsden ER, Thorgeirsson SS. 1993. Activation of hepatic stem cell compartment in the rat: Role of transforming growth factor- α , hepatocyte growth factor, and acidic fibroblast growth factor in early proliferation. Cell Growth & Differ. 4, 555-561.

Evarts RP, Nakatsukasa H, Marsden ER, Hu Z, Thorgeirsson SS. 1992. Expression of transforming growth factor- α in regenerating liver and during hepatic differentiation. Mol Carcinog. 5, 25-31.

Evarts RP, Nagy P, Marsden E, Thorgeirsson SS. 1987. A precursor-product relationship exists between oval cells and hepatocytes in rat liver. Carcinogenesis 8, 1737-1740.

Ewen M, Oliver CJ, Sluss HK, Miller SJ, Peeper DS. 1995. *P53*-dependent repression of cdk4 translation in TGF-B-induced G1 cell-cycle arrest. Genes Dev. 9, 204-217.

Faber E. 1955. Similarities in the sequence of early histological changes induced in the liver of the rat by ethionine, 2-acetylaminofluorene, and 3-methyl-4-dimethylaminoazobenzene. Cancer Res. 16, 142-148.

FitzGerald MJ, Webber EM, Donovan JR, Fausto N. 1995. Rapid DNA binding by NF-kB in hepatocytes in the start of liver regeneration. Cell. Growth. Differ. 6, 417-427.

Fleming RE, Gitlin JD. 1990. Primary structure of rat ceruloplasmin and analysis of tissue-specific gene expression during development. J. Biol. Chem. 265, 7701-7707.

Fossum S, Mallett S, Barclay AN. 1991. The MRC OX-47 antigen is a member of the immunoglobulin superfamily with an unusual transmembrane sequence. Eur. J. Immunol. 21, 671-679.

Fujio K, Hu Z, Evarts RP, Marsden ER, Niu C-H, Thorgeirsson SS. 1996. Coexpression of stem cell factor and c-kit in embryonic and adult liver. Exp. Cell Res. 224, 243-250.

Fujio K, Evarts RP, Hu Z, Marsden ER, Thorgeirsson SS. 1994 Expression of stem cell factor and its receptor, c-kit, during liver regeneration from putative stem cells in adult rat. Lab Invest. 70, 511-516.

Furuto-Kato S, Matsumoto A, Kitamura N, Nakanishi S. 1985. Primary structures of the mRNAs encoding the rat precursors for bradykinin and T-kinin: Structural relationship of kininogens with major acute phase protein and alpha-1-cysteine proteinase inhibitor. J. Biol. Chem. 260, 12054-12059.

Gearing DP. 1993. The leukemia inhibitory factor and its receptor. Adv. Immunol. 53, 31-58.

Gierasch LM. 1989. Signal sequences. Biochemistry. 28, 923-930.

Gold LI, Rostagna A, Frangione B, Passalaris T. 1992. Localization of the cleavage sites on fibronectin following digestion by urokinase. J. Cell. Biochem. 50, 441-452.

Golding M, Sarraf CE, Lalani E-N, Anilkumar TV, Edwards RJ, Nagy P, Thorgeirsson SS, Alison MR. 1995. Oval cell differentiation into hepatocytes in the acetylaminofluorene-treated regenerating rat liver. Hepatology. 22, 1243-1253.

Gressner AM. 1995. Cytokines and cellular crosstalk involved in the activation of fat-storing cells. J. Hepatol. 22, 28-36.

Grisham JW. and Thorgeirsson SS. 1996. Liver Stem Cells. In Potten, C.S. (ed) Stem Cells. Academic Press. New York.

Gu Y, Kuida K, Tsutsui H, Ku G, Hsiao K, Fleming MA, Hayashi N, Higashino K, Okamura H, Nakanishi K, Kurimoto M, Tanimoto T, Flavell RA, Sato V, Harding MW, Livingston DJ, Su SS. 1997. Activation of interferon- γ inducing factor mediated by interleukin-1 β converting enzyme. Science. 275, 206-209.

Haber BA, Mohn KL, Diamond RH, Taub R. 1993. Induction patterns of 70 Genes during nine days after hepatectomy define the temporal courses of liver regeneration. J. Clin. Invest. 91, 1319-1326.

Higgins GM, Anderson RM. 1931. Experimental pathology of the liver. I. Restoration of the liver of the white rat following partial surgical removal. Arch. Path. 12, 186-202.

Hilton DJ, Gough NM. 1991. Leukemia inhibitory factor: A biological perspective. J. Cell. Biochem. 46, 21-26.

Hiramoto S., Tamba, M., Kiuchi, S., Jin, Y.Z., Bannai, S., Sugita, Y., Dacheux, F., Dacheux, J.L., Yoshida, M. and Okamura, N. 1997. Stage-specific expression of a mouse homologue of the porcine 135kDa alpha-D-mannosidase (MAN2B2) in type A spermatogonia. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 241, 439-445.

Hixson DC, Chapman L, McBride A, Faris R, Yang L. 1997. Antigenic phenotypes common to rat oval cells, primary hepatocellular carcinomas and developing bile ducts. Carcinogenesis. 18, 1169-1175.

Hozumi K, Masuko T, Hashimoto Y. 1994. Expression of Thy-1 on rat T cells and its relevance as a maturation marker of T cells in rats. Immunol. Lett. 39, 179-185.

Hu Z, Evarts RP, Fujio K, Marsden ER, Thorgeirsson SS. 1995. Expression of fibroblast growth factor receptors flg and bek during hepatic ontogenesis and regeneration in the rat. Cell Growth Differ. 6, 1019-1025.

Hu Z, Evarts RP, Fujio K, Marsden ER, Thorgeirsson SS. 1993. Expression of hepatocyte growth factor and c-met genes during hepatic differentiation and liver development in the rat. Am. J. Pathol. 142, 1823-1830.

Huang S, Hendriks W, Althage A, Hemmi S, Bluethmann H, Kamijo R, Vilcek J, Zinkernagel RM, Aguet M. 1993. Immune response in mice that lack the interferon-γ receptor. Science. 259, 1742-1745.

Huber AO, Pierres M, He HT. 1992. Sulfated glycans directly interact with mouse Thy-1 and negatively regulate Thy-1 mediated adhesion of thymocytes to thymic epithelial cells. J Immunol. 148, 3692-4001.

Ichimura T, Bonventre JV, Bailly V, Wei H, Hession CA, Cate RL, Sanicola M. 1998. Kidney injury molecule-1 (KIM-1), a putative epithelial cell adhesion molecule containing a novel immunoglobulin domain, is upregulated in renal cells after injury. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 4135-4142.

Jacobs KA, Collins-Racie LA, Colbert M, Duckett M, Golden-Fleet M, Kelleher K, Kriz R, La Vallie ER, Merberg D, Spaulding V, Stover J, Williamson MJ, McCoy JM. 1997. A genetic selection for isolating cDNAs encoding secreted proteins. Gene 198, 289-296.

Jagodzinski, L.L., Sargent, T.D., Yang, M., Glackin, C. and Bonner, J. 1981. Sequence homology between RNAs encoding rat alpha-fetoprotein and rat serum albumin. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 78, 3521-3525.

Kaiser CA, Preuss D, Grisafi P, Botstein D. 1987. Many random sequences functionally replace the secretion signal sequence of yeast invertase. Science. 235, 312-317.

Kaufmann,Y., Tseng,E. and Springer,T.A. 1991. Cloning of the murine lymphocyte function-associated molecule-1 alpha-subunit and its expression in cos cells. J. Immunol. 147, 369-374.

Kishimoto T, Akira S, Narazaki M, Taga T. 1995. Interleukin-6 family of cytokines and gp130. Blood. 86, 1243-1254.

Kitagawa H, Kitamura N, Hayashida H, Miyata T, Nakanishi S. 1987. Differing expression patterns and evolution of the rat kininogen gene family. J. Biol. Chem. 262, 2345-2351.

Klein, RD, Gu Q, Goddard A, Rosenthal A. 1996. Selection for genes encoding secreted proteins and receptors. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 93, 7108-7113.

Kooy Dvd, Weiss S. 2000. Why stem cells? Science. 287, 1439-1441.

Krause DS, Fackler MJ, Civin CI, May WS. 1996. CD34: structure, biology, and clinical utility. Blood. 87, 1-13.

Kroese ED, Bannenberg G, Dogterom P, Noach AB, Nagelkerke JF, Meerman JH. 1990. Lipid peroxidation and protein thiol depletion are not involved in the cytotoxicity of N-hydroxy-2-acetylaminofluorene in isolated art hepatocytes. Biochem. Pharmacol. 40, 1885-1892.

Kumar A, Yang YL, Flati V, Der S, Kadereit S, Deb A, Haque J, Reis L, Weissmann C, Williams BR. 1997. Deficient cytokine signalling in mouse embryo fibroblasts with a targeted deletion in the PKR gene: role of IRF-1 and NF-κB. EMBO. J. 16, 406-416.

Kurzrock R, Estrov Z, Wetzler M, Gutterman JU, Talpaz M. 1991. LIF: ot just a leukemia inhibitory factor. Endocrinol Rev. 12, 208-217.

Landsman D, Bustin M. 1990. Mouse non-histone chromosomal protein HMG-14 cDNA sequence. Nucleic Acids Res. 18; 5311.

Lemire JM, Shiojiri N, Fausto N. 1991. Oval cell proliferation and the origin of small hepatocytes in liver injury induced by D-galactosamine. Am. J. Pathol. 139, 535-552.

Lenzi R, Liu MH, Tarsetti F, Slott PA, Alpini G, Xhai WR, Paronetto F, Lenzen R, Tavolini N. 1992. Histogenesis of bile duct-like cells proliferating during ethionine hepatocarcinogenesis. Lab. Invest. 66, 390-402.

Li XJ. and Snyder SH. 1995. Molecular cloning of Ebnerin, a von Ebner's gland protein associated with taste buds. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 17674-17679.

Lim SP, Garzino-Demo A. 2000. Cloning trap for signal peptide sequences. Biotechniques 28, 124-126, 128-130.

Lindroos PM, Zarnegar R, Michalopoulos GK. 1991. Hepatocyte growth factor (Hepatopoietin A) rapidly increases in plasma before DNA synthesis and liver regeneration stimulated by partial hepatectomy and carbon tetrachloride administration. Hepatology. 13, 743-749.

Liu M-L, Mars WM, Zarnegar R, Michalopoulos GK. 1994. Collagenase pretreatment and the mitogenic effects of hepatocyte growth factor and transforming growth factor- α in adult rat liver. Hepatology. 19, 1521-1527.

Loetscher M, Geiser T, O'Reily T, Zwahlen R, Baggiolini M, Moser B. 1994. Cloning of a human seventransmembrane domain receptor, LESTR, that is highly expressed in leukocytes. J Biol. Chem. 269, 232-237.

Loveland KL, Schlatt S. 1997. Stem cell factor and c-kit in the mammalian testis: lessons originating from mother nature's gene knockouts. J. Endocrinol. 153, 337-344.

Lowes KN, Brennan BA, Yeoh GC, Olynyk JK. 1999. Oval cell numbers in human chronic liver diseases are directly related to disease severity. Am J Pathol 154, 537-541.

Marra F, Choudhury GG, Abboud HE. 1996. Interferon-γ-mediated activation of STAT1α regulates growth factor-induced mitogenesis. J. Clin. Invest. 98, 1218-1230.
Mars WM, Liu M-L, Kitson RP, Goldfarb RH, Gabauer MK, Michalopoulos GK. 1995. Immediate early detection of urokinase receptor after partial hepatectomy and its implications for initiation of liver regeneration. Hepatology. 21, 1695-1701.

Marsden ER, Hu Z, Fujio K, Nakatsukasa H, Thorgeirsson SS, Evarts RP. 1992. Expression of acidic fibroblast growth factor in regenerating liver and during hepatic differentiation. Lab Invest. 67, 427-433.

Martinez-Hernandez A, Amenta PS. 1993. Morphology, localization and origin of the hepatic extracellular matrix. In: Zern M and Reid L, editors. Extracellular matrix: Chemistry, biology, pathology. New York: Marcel Dekker, 255-327.

Mathis GA, Walls SA, D'Amico P, Gengo TF, Sirica AE. 1989. Enzyme profile of rat bile ductule epithelial cells in reference to the resistent phenotype in hepatocarcinogenesis. Hepatology. 9, 477-485.

Matsumoto, A., Okado, A., Fujii, T., Fujii, J., Egashira, M., Niikawa, N. and Taniguchi, N. 1999. Cloning of the peroxiredoxin gene family in rats and characterization of the fourth member. FEBS Lett. 443, 246-250.

Matsusaka S, Tsujimura T, Toyosaka A, Nakasho K, Sugihara A, Okamoto E, Uematsu K, Terada N. 1999. Role of c-*kit* receptor tyrosine kinase in development of oval cells in the rat 2-acetylaminofluorene/partial hepatectomy model. Hepatology. 29, 670-676.

McCuskey RS. 1993. In "Hepatic transport and bile secretion: Physiology and pathophysiology". Ed Tavoloni N, Berk PD. 1-10. Raven Press, New York.

McKay AR, Corbitt RH, Hartzler JL, Thorgeirsson UP. 1990. Basement membrane type IV collagen degradation: Evidence for the involvement of a proteolytic cascade independent of metalloproteinases. Cancer Res. 50, 5997-6001.

McLeod JF, Cooke NE. 1989. The vitamin D-binding protein, alpha-fetoprotein, albumin multigene family: Detection of transcripts in multiple tissues. J. Biol. Chem. 264, 21760-21769.

Meraz MA, White JM, Sheehan KCF, Bach EA, Rodig SJ, Dighe AS, Kaplan DH, Riley JK, Greenlund AC, Campbell D, Carver-Moore K, DuBois RN, Clark R, Aguet M, Schreiber RD. 1996. Targeted disruption of the *Stat1* gene in mice reveals unexpected physiological specificity in the JAK-STAT signalling pathway. Cell. 84, 431-442.

Michalak M, Corbett EF, Mesaeli N, Nakamura K, Opas M. 1999. Calreticulin: one protein, one gene, many functions. Biochem J. 344, 281-292.

Michalopoulus GK, DeFrances MC. 1997 Liver regeneration. Science 276, 60-66.

Michalopoulos GK. 1990. Liver regeneration: molecular mechanisms of growth control. FASEB J. 4, 176-187.

Michalopoulos GK, Houck KA, Dolan ML, Luetteke NC. 1984.Control of hepatocyte proliferation by two serum factors. Cancer Res. 44, 4414-4419.

Moll R, Franke WW, Schiller DL, Geiger B, Krepler R. 1982. The catalog of human cytokeratins: patterns of expression in normal epithelia, tumors and cultured cells. Cell. 31, 11-24.

Murthy,K.K., Banville,D., Srikant,C.B., Carrier,F., Holmes,C., Bell,A. and Patel,Y.C. 1990. Structural homology between the rat calreticulin gene product and the Onchocerca volvulus antigen Ral-1. Nucleic Acids Res. 18, 4933.

Muto M, Yamamoto M. 1978. The liver: An atlas of scanning electron microscopy. Tokyo: Igaku-Shoin.

Möhle R, Bautz F, Rafii S, Moore MAS, Brugger W, Kanz L. 1998. The chemokine receptor CXCR4 is expressed on CD34⁺ hematopoietic progenitors and leukemic cells and mediates transendothelial migration induced by stromal cell-derived factor-1. Blood. 91, 4523-4530.

Nagasawa,T., Nakajima,T., Tachibana,K., Iizasa,H., Bleul,C.C., Yoshie,O., Matsushima,K., Yoshida,N., Springer,T.A. and Kishimoto,T. 1996. Molecular cloning and characterization of a murine pre-B-cell growth-stimulating factor/stromal cell-derived factor 1 receptor, a murine homolog of the human immunodeficiency virus 1 entry coreceptor fusin. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 93, 14726-14729.

Nagase,T., Seki,N., Ishikawa,K., Ohira,M., Kawarabayasi,Y., Ohara,O., Tanaka,A., Kotani,H., Miyajima,N. and Nomura,N. 1996. Prediction of the coding sequences of unidentified human genes. VI. The coding sequences of 80 new genes (KIAA0201-KIAA0280) deduced by analysis of cDNA clones from cell line KG-1 and brain. DNA Res. 3, 321-329.

Nagy P, Kiss A, Schnur J, Thorgeirsson SS. 1998. Dexamethasone inhibits the proliferation of hepatocytes and oval cells but not bile duct cells in rat liver. Hepatology. 28, 423-429.

Nagy P, Bisgaard HC, Santoni-Rugiu E, Thorgeirsson SS. 1996. *In vivo* infusion of growth factors enhances the mitogenic response of rat hepatic ductal (oval) cells after administration of 2- acetylaminofluorene. Hepatology. 23, 71-79.

Nagy P, Bisgaard HC, Thorgeirsson SS. 1994. Expression of hepatic transcription factors during liver development and oval cell differentiation. J. Cell. Biol. 126, 223-233.

Nakamura T, Nawa K, Ichihara A. 1984. Partial purification and characterization of hepatocyte growth factor from serum of hepatectomized rats. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 122, 1450-1459.

Naldini L, Vigna E, Bardelli A, Follenzi A, Galimi F, Comoglio PM. 1995. Biological activation of pro-HGF (hepatocyte growth factor) by urokinase is controlled by a stoichiometric reaction. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 603-611.

Naldini L, Vigna E, Narsimhan RP, Gaudino G, Zarnegar R, Michalopoulos GK, Comoglio PM. 1991. Hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) stimulates the tyrosine kinase activity of the receptor encoded by the protooncogen c-met. Oncogen. 6, 501-504.

Nielsen H, Engelbrecht J, Brunak S, von Heijne G. 1997. Identification of prokaryotic and eukaryotic signal peptides and prediction of their cleavage sites. Protein Engineering. 10, 1-6.

Nikkilae H, Gitlin JD, Muller-Eberhard U. 1991. Rat hemopexin, molecular cloning, primary structural characterization, and analysis of gene expression. Biochemistry. 30, 823-829.

Ohlson LCE, Koroxenidou L, Hällström IP. 1998. Inhibition of *in vivo* regeneration by 2-acetylaminofluorene affects regulation of cell cycle-related proteins. Hepatology. 27, 691-696.

Okamura H, Tsutsui H, Komatsu T, Yusudo M, Hakura A, Tanimoto T, Torigoe K, Okura T, Nukada Y, Hattori K, Akita K, Namba M, Tanabe F, Konishi K, Fukada S, Kurimoto M. 1995. Cloning of a new cytokine that induces IFN-γ production in T-cells. Nature. 378, 88-91.

Omori N, Omori M, Evarts RP, Teramoto T, Miller MJ, Hoang TN, Thorgeirsson SS. 1997. Partial cloning of rat CD34 cDNA and expression during stem cell-dependent liver regeneration in the adult rat. Hepatology. 26, 720-727.

Omori N, Evarts RP, Omori M, Hu Z, Marsden ER, Thorgeirsson SS. 1996. Expression of leukemia inhibitory factor and its receptor during liver regeneration in the adult rat. Lab Invest. 75, 15-24.

Peled A, Kollet O, Ponomaryov T, Petit I, Franitza S, Grabovsky V, Slav MM, Nagler A, Lider O, Alon R, Zipori D, Lapidot T. 2000. The chemokine SDF-1 activates the integrins LFA-1, VLA-4, and VLA-5 on immature human CD34⁺ cells: role in transendothelial/stromal migration and engraftment of NOD/SCID mice. Blood. 95, 3289-3296.

Petersen BE, Bowen WC, Patrene KD, Mars WM, Sullivan AK, Murase N, Boggs SS, Greenberger JS, Goff JP. 1999. Bone marrow as a potential source of hepatic oval cells. Science. 284, 1168-1170

Petersen BE, Goff JP, Greenberger JS, Michalopoulos GK. 1998 a. Hepatic oval cells express the hematopoietic stem cell marker Thy-1 in the rat. Hepatology. 27, 433-445.

Petersen BE, Zajac VF, Michalopoulos GK. 1998 b. Hepatic oval cell activation in response to injury following chemically induced periportal or pericentral damage in rats. Hepatology. 27, 1030-1038.

Phillips RL, Ernst RE, Brunk B, Ivanova N, Mahan MA, Deanehan JK, Moore KA, Overton GC, Lemischka IR. 2000. The genetic program of hematopoietic stem cells. Science. 288, 1635-1640.

Pierce A, Lyon M, Hampson I, Cowling GJ, Gallagher J. 1991. Molecular cloning of the major cell surface heparan sulphate proteoglycan from rat liver. J. Biol. Chem. 267, 3894-3900.

Posern G, Weber CK, Rapp UR, Feller SM. 1998. Activity of Rap1 is regulated by bombesin, cell adhesion, and cell density in NIH3T3 fibroblasts. J Biol Chem. 273, 24297-24300.

Rapoport TA. 1992. Transport of proteins across the endoplasmic reticulum membrane. Science 258, 931-936.

Rosenberg D, Ilic Z, Yin L, Sell S. 2000. Proliferation of hepatic lineage cells of normal C57BL and interleukin-6 knockout mice after cocaine-induced periportal injury. Hepatology. 31, 948-955.

Sambrook J, Fritsch EF, Maniatis T. 1989. Molecular cloning – A laboratory manual. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, Cold Spring Harbor, New York.

Sanders ME, Makgoba MW, Sharrow SO, Stephany D, Springer TA, Young HA, Shaw S. 1988. Human memory T lymphocytes express increased levels of three cell adhesion molecules (LFA-3, CD2 and LFA-1) and three other molecules (UCHL1, CDw29, and Pgp-1) and have enhanced IFN-γ production. J Immunol. 140, 1401-1407.

Sargent TD, Yang M, Bonner J. 1981. Nucleotide sequence of cloned rat serum albumin messenger RNA. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 78, 243-246.

Sarraf C, Lalani E-N, Golding M, Anilkumar TV, Poulsom R, Alison M. 1994. Cell behavior in the acetylaminofluorene-treated regenerating rat liver. Light and electron microscopic observations. Am J Pathol. 145, 1114-1126.

Saxena R, Theise ND, Crawford JM. 1999. Microanatomy of the human liver – Exploring the hidden interfaces. Hepatology 30, 1339-1346.

Schroeder RA, Gu JS, Kuo PC. 1998. Interleukin 1 β -stimulated production of nitric oxide in rat hepatocytes is mediated through endogenous synthesis of interferon- γ . Hepatology. 27, 711-719.

Scrocchi LA, Orava M, Smith CL, Han VK, Hammond GL. 1993. Spatial and temporal distribution of corticosteroid-binding globulin and its messenger ribonucleic acid in embryonic and fetal mice. Endocrinology 132, 903-909.

Sell S. 1983. Comparison of oval cells induced in rat liver by feding N-2-fluorenylacetamide in a cholinedevoid diet and bile duct cells induced by feeding 4,4'-diaminodephenylmethane. Cancer Res. 43, 1761-1767.

۰.

Shiojiri N, Lemire JM, Fausto N. 1991. Cell lineages and oval cell progenitors in rat liver development. Cancer Res. 51, 2611-2620.

Schlaf G, Rothermel E, Oppermann M, Schleferdecker HL, Jungermann K, Gotze O. 1999. Rat complement factor I: molecular cloning, sequencing and expression in tissues and isolated cells. Immunology. 98, 464-74.

Shull,G.E., Greeb,J. and Lingrel,J.B. 1986. Molecular cloning of three distinct forms of the Na+,K+-ATPase alpha-subunit from rat brain. Biochemistry 25, 8125-8132.

Simpson KJ, Lukacs NW, Colletti L, Strieter RM, Kunkel SL. 1997. Cytokines and the liver. J. Hepatol. 27, 1120-1132.

Sirica AE, Mathis GA, Sano N, Elmore LW. 1990. Isolation, culture, and transplantation of intrahepatic biliary epithelial cells and oval cells. Pathobiology. 58, 44-64.

Sitrin RG, Todd RF III, Mizukami IF, Gross TJ, Shollenberger SB, Gyetko MR. 1994. Cytokine-specific regulation of urokinase receptor (CD87) expression by U937 mononuclear phagocytes. Blood. 15, 1268-1275.

Smith PG, Tee LB, Yeoh GC. 1996. Appearance of oval cells in the liver of rats after long-term exposure to ethanol. Hepatology. 23, 145-154.

Soury E, Olivier E, Daveau M, Hiron M, Claeyssens S, Risler JL, Salier JP. 1998. The H4P heavy chain of inter-alpha-inhibitor family largely differs in the structure and synthesis of its prolin-rich region from rat to human. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 243, 522-530.

St Hilaire RJ, Hradek GT, Jones AL. 1983. Hepatic sequestration and biliary secretion of epidermal growth factor: evidence for a high-capacity uptake system. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 80, 3797-3801.

Tamura T, Ishihara M, Lamphier MS, Tanaka N, Oishi I, Aizawa S, Matsuyama T, Mak TW, Taki S, Taniguchi T. 1995. An IRF-1-dependent pathway of DNA damage-induced apoptosis in mitogen-activated T lymphocytes. Nature. 376, 596-599.

Tanaka,T., Inazu,T., Yamada,K., Myint,Z., Keng,V.W., Inoue,Y., Taniguchi,N. and Noguchi,T. 1999. cDNA cloning and expression of rat homeobox gene, hex, and functional characterization of the protein. Biochem. J. 339, 111-117.

Tashiro K, Tada H, Heilker R, Shirozu M, Nakano T, Honjo T. 1993. Signal sequence trap: A cloning strategy for secreted proteins and type I membrane proteins. Science 261, 600-603.

Tatematsu M, Kaku T, Medline A, Faber E. 1985. Intestinal metaplasia as a common option of oval cells in relation to cholangiofibrosis in the livers of rats exposed to 2-acetylaminofluorene. Lab. Invest. 52, 354-362.

Taub R. 1996. Liver regeneration. Transcriptional control of liver regeneration. FASEB J. 10, 413-427.

Tee LB, Kirilak Y, Huang WH, Morgan RH, Yeoh GC. 1994. Differentiation of oval cell into duct-like cells in preneoplastic liver of rats placed on a choline-dificient diet supplemented with ethionine. Carcinogenesis 15, 2747-2756.

Theise ND, Badve S, Saxena R, Henegariu O, Sell S, Crawford JM, Krause DS. 2000 a. Derivation of hepatocytes from bone marrow cells in mice after radiation-induced myeloablation. Hepatology. 31, 235-240.

Theise ND, Nimmakayalu M, Gardner R, Illei PB, Morgan G, Teperman L, Henegariu O, Krause DS. 2000 b. Liver from bone marrow in humans. Hepatology. 32, 11-16.

Thorgeirsson SS. 1996. Hepatic stem cells in liver regeneration. FASEB J. 10, 1249-1256.

Thorgeirsson SS, Evarts RP, Fujio K, Hu Z. 1994. Cellular biology of the rat hepatic stem cell compartment. In Liver Carcinogenesis (Skouteris, G.G., ed), NATO ASI Series, Vol H88, 129-145, Springer-Verlag, Berlin/Heidelberg.

Thorgeirsson SS, Evarts RP, Bisgaard HC, Fujio K, Hu Z. 1993. Hepatic stem cell compartment: activation and lineage commitment. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med. 204, 253-260.

Tiefenthaler, M., Marksteiner, R., Neyer, S., Koch, F., Hofer, S., Schuler, G., Nussenzweig, M., Schneider, R. and Heufler, C. 1999. M1204, a novel 2',5' oligoadenylate synthetase with a ubiquitin-like extension, is induced during maturation of murine dendritic cells. J. Immunol. 163, 760-765.

Trautwein C, Will M, Kubicka S, Rakemann T, Flemming P, Manns MP. 1999. 2-acetylaminofluorene blocks cell cycle progression after hepatectomy by p21 induction and lack of cyclin E expression.

Tsurumi,C., Yoshihara,Y., Osaka,F., Yamada,F., Tani,I., Higuti,T.,Shimizu,M., Oeda,K., Ohkawa,H., Toda,H., Kakuno,T., Sakiyama,F., Kumatori,A., Tanaka,K. and Ichihara,A. 1990. cDNA cloning and sequencing for the import precursor of subunit b in H+-ATP synthase from rat mitochondria. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 169, 136-142.

Tygstrup N, Jensen SA, Krog B, Pietrangelo A, Shafritz DA. 1996. Expression of messenger RNA for liver functions following 70% and 90% hepatectomy. J Hepatol. 25, 72-78.

Van-Eyken P, Sciot R, Callea F, van der Steen K, Moerman P, Desmet VJ. 1988. The development of the intrahepatic bile ducts in man: a keratin-immunohistochemical study. Hepatology. 8, 1586-1595.

Van Eyken P, Sciot R, Van Damme B, De Wolf-Petters C, Desmet VJ. 1987. Keratin immunohistochemistry in normal human liver. Cytokeratin pattern of hepatocytes, bile ducts, and acinar gradient. Virchows Arch. A Pathol. Anat. Histol. 412, 63-72.

Vassalli J-D, Sappino AP, Berlin D. 1991. The plasminogen activator/plasmin system. J. Clin Invest. 88, 1067-1072.

Volarevic S, Burns CM, Sussman JJ, Ashwell JC. 1990. Intimate association of Thy-1 and the T-cell antigen receptor with CD45 tyrosine phosphatase. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 87, 7085-7089.

Von Heijne, G. 1990. The signal peptide. J. Membrane Biol. 115, 195-201.

Von Heijne, G. 1985. Signal sequences The limits of variation. J. Mol. Biol. 184, 99-105.

Wang,L., Precht,P., Balakir,R. and Horton,W.E.Jr. 1993. Rat and chick cDNA clones encoding HMG-like proteins. Nucleic Acids Res. 21, 1493-1493.

Waermegard B, Martin N, Johansson SE. 1992. cDNA cloning and sequencing of rat alpha-1-macroglobulin. Biochemistry. 31, 2346-2352.

Webber EM, Bruix J, Pierce RH, Fausto N. 1998. Tumor necrosis factor primes hepatocytes for DNA replication in the rat. Hepatology. 28, 1226-1234.

Webber EM, Godowski PJ, Fausto N. 1994. In vivo response of hepatocytes to growth factors requires an initial priming stimulus. Hepatology. 19, 489-497.

Williams AF. 1985. Immunoglobulin-related domains for cell surface recognition. Nature. 214, 579-583.

Wu,S., Gupta,S., Chatterjee,N., Hileman,R.E., Kinzy,T.G., Danslow,N.D., Merrick,W.C., Chakrabarti D., Osterman,J.C. and Gupta,N.K. 1993. Cloning and characterization of complementary DNA encoding the eukaryotic initiation factor 2-associated 67-kDa protein (p67). J. Biol. Chem. 268, 10796-10781.

Yamada Y, Kirillova I, Peschon JJ, Fausto N. 1997. Initiation of liver growth by tumor necrosis factor: Deficient liver regeneration in mice lacking type I tumor necrosis factor receptor. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 94, 1441-1446.

Yamashita T, Nakane A, Watanabe T, Miyoshi I, Kasai N. 1994. Evidence that α -fetoprotein suppresses the immunological function in transgenic mice. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 30, 1154-1159.

Yan,Y.C., Bai,Y.Y., Wang,L.F. and Miao,S.K.S.S. 1990. Characterization of cDNA encoding a rat sperm membrane protein related to A4 amyloid protein. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 87, 2405-2408

Yang L, Faris RA, Hixson DC. 1993. Characterization of a mature bile duct antigen expressed on a subpopulation of biliary ductuar cells but absent from oval cells. Hepatology. 18, 357-366.

Zarnegar R, DeFrances MC, Kost DP, Lindroos P, Michalopoulos GK. 1991. Expression of hepatocyte growth factor mRNA in regenerating rat liver after partial hepatectomy. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 177, 559-565.

Zeheb R, Gelehrter TD. 1988. Cloning and sequencing of cDNA for the rat plasminogen activator inhibitor-1. Gene. 73, 459-468.

Zhu Z, Atkinson TP, Hovanky KT, Boppana SB, Dai YL, Densen P, Go RC, Jablecki JS, Volanakis JE. 2000. High prevalence of complement component C6 deficiency among African-Americans in the south-eastern USA. Clin. Exp. Immunol. 119, 305-310.

Zou Y-R, Kottmann AH, Kuroda M, Taniuchi I, Littman DR. 1998. Function of the chemokine receptor CXCR4 in haematopoiesis and in cerebellar development. Nature 393, 595-599.

Zsebo KM, Wypych J, McNiece IK, Lu HS, Smith KA, Karkare SB. 1990. Identification, purification, and biological characterization of hematopoietic stem cell factor from Buffalo rat liver-conditioned medium. Cell. 63, 195-201.

۰.

Modulation of the Gene Network Connected to Interferon- γ in Liver Regeneration from Oval Cells

Hanne Cathrine Bisgaard,* Sven Müller,* Peter Nagy,[†] Lene Juel Rasmussen,* and Snorri S. Thorgeirsson[‡]

From the Department of Life Sciences and Chemistry,* Roskilde University, Roskilde, Denmark; the First Institute of Pathology and Experimental Cancer Research,* Semmelweis Medical University, Budapest, Hungary; and the Laboratory of Experimental Carcinogenesis,* Division of Basic Sciences, National Cancer Institute, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, Maryland

Suppression subtractive hybridization was used to clone genes associated with proliferation of oval cells in rat liver regenerating after a 70% partial hepatectomy combined with the feeding of 2-acetylaminofluorene. A subset of the identified genes comprised interferon- γ receptor α subunit (IFN- $\gamma R\alpha$), gp91phox, interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β), lymphocyte function-associated molecule-1a (LFA-1), eukaryotic initiation factor-2-associated 67-kd protein (eIF-2-associated 67-kd protein), and α -fetoprotein, which constitute part of the cellular program modulated by IFN-y. Therefore, expression analysis performed by Northern blotting and immunohistochemistry were extended to include IFN-y, the IFN- γ receptor β subunit (IFN- $\gamma R\beta$), three secondary response genes induced by interaction of IFN-y with IFN- γ receptor complexes, ie, IL-1 β -converting enzyme (ICE), intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1), and urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor (uPAR). and a cytokine inducing IFN- γ expression, i.e., interleukin-18 (IL-18). The Northern blot analysis showed that all examined genes were modulated when progenitorlike oval cells were activated and recruited for liver regeneration. Immunohistochemistry localized the subunits of the IFN- γ receptor complex, IFN- $\gamma R\alpha$ and IFN- $\gamma R\beta$, the secondary response genes uPAR and ICAM-1, the IFN-y-inducing factor IL-18, and ICE to the ductular structures of oval cells. In contrast, during liver regeneration after a 70% partial hepatectomy, only modulation of IL-1 β and ICE was observed. Our results, therefore, indicate that IFN-\gamma-mediated events may be particularly important when cells in the bile ductules must respond to liver damage by production of ductular oval cells. (Am J Pathol 1999, 155:1075-1085)

Selective Cloning of Genes Encoding Secreted and Membrane-Bound Proteins with Putative Roles in Liver Regeneration from Oval Cells

Sven Müller*, Niels Tygstrup§, Lene Juel Rasmussen*, and Hanne Cathrine Bisgaard*

From the Department of Life Sciences and Chemistry*, Roskilde University, Roskilde, Denmark; and the Department of Medicine A§, National University Hospital, Copenhagen, Denmark.

Supported by grants from The Danish Research Council (HCB), Savwarksejer Jeppe Juhl og Hustru Ovita Juhls Mindelegat (HCB), and the Novo Nordisk Foundation (HCB and NT). Address reprint requests to Dr. Hanne Cathrine Bisgaard, Department of Life Sciences and Chemistry, Roskilde University, Building 16.1, Universitetsvej 1, DK-4000 Roskilde, Denmark. E-mail: hcb@ruc.dk

Regeneration of the adult rat liver in response to severe damage can be accomplished through the activation and differentiation of multi-potent oval cells. This process appears to be modulated by altered expression of secreted and membrane-bound arowth modulators. To acquire further knowledge of the molecules involved, we have attempted to systematically identify genes encodina secreted and membrane-bound proteins, the expression of which is specifically associated with progenitor cell activity of the oval cell phenotype. Since secreted and membranebound proteins must pass through a secretory pathway involving a signal peptide sequence, we have used a single-step, signal peptide selection method in yeast to clone cDNA sequences from a rat liver containing numerous proliferating oval cells. Twenty two unique cDNAs encoding eighteen known membrane-bound or secreted proteins, and four novel proteins were identified. Northern blot analysis in various experimental models of liver damage and regeneration showed that increased expression of one transcript encoding CD45 and of the four novel transcripts was associated with recruitment of oval cells. Additional expression analysis of genes linked to the function of CD45, (i.e. Thy-1, CXCR4, and SDF-1) further indicated a role for CD45 in oval cell-based liver regeneration. Finally, Northern blot analysis of multiple adult rat tissues revealed that one novel cDNA.

aocp1, was exclusively expressed in the testis indicating its putative role in both spermatogenesis and liver regeneration accomplished by recruitment of multi-potent oval cells.